Helsinki University of Technology, Department of Chemical Technology Technical Biochemistry Report 1/2004 Espoo 2004

TKK-BE-8

# CROSS-LINKED PROTEIN CRYSTAL TECHNOLOGY IN BIOSEPARATION AND BIOCATALYTIC APPLICATIONS

Antti Vuolanto

Dissertation for the degree of Doctor in Science in Technology to be presented with due permission of the Department of Chemical Technology for public examination and debate in Auditorium KE 2 (Komppa Auditorium) at Helsinki University of Technology (Espoo, Finland) on the 20th of August, 2004, at 12 noon.

Helsinki University of Technology Department of Chemical Technology Laboratory of Bioprocess Engineering

Teknillinen korkeakoulu Kemian osasto Bioprosessitekniikan laboratorio Distribution: Helsinki University of Technology Laboratory of Bioprocess Engineering P.O. Box 6100 FIN-02015 HUT Tel. +358-9-4512541 Fax. +358-9-462373 E-mail: antti.vuolanto@medicel.com

©Antti Vuolanto

ISBN 951-22-7176-1 (printed) ISBN 951-22-7177-X (pdf) ISSN 0359-6621

Espoo 2004

Vuolanto, Antti. Cross-linked protein crystal technology in bioseparation and biocatalytic applications. Espoo 2004, Helsinki University of Technology.

## Abstract

Chemical cross-linking of protein crystals form an insoluble and active protein matrix. Cross-linked protein crystals (CLPCs) have many excellent properties including high volumetric activity and stability. In this thesis CLPC technology was studied in bioseparation and biocatalytic applications.

A novel immunoaffinity separation material, cross-linked antibody crystals (CLAC), was developed in this thesis for enantiospecific separation of a chiral drug, finrozole. Previously, the preparation of an antibody Fab fragment ENA5His capable of enantiospecific affinity separation of the chiral drug has been described. However, in a carrier-immobilized form ENA5His suffered from poor stability in the presence of a high concentration of organic solvents needed to release the bound drug. In this study crystallization conditions for ENA5His were found by means of small-scale vapor diffusion experiments. Crystallization was further scaled up to 10 ml batch crystallization with a 70% protein yield. Glutaraldehyde cross-linking modified the ENA5His crystals into an insoluble form producing a CLAC matrix. The CLAC matrix packed in a column separated pure enantiomers from the racemic mixture of the drug. The CLAC matrix was totally stable at the elution conditions enabling reuse of the immunoaffinity column. However, the specific drug enantiomer binding capacity of CLAC was only 50% of the corresponding capacity of carrier-immobilized ENA5His. Also a cross-linked carrierimmobilized ENA5His column was prepared to study the effect of bare chemical crosslinking. Surprisingly, the cross-linked immobilized ENA5His was as active as the native immobilized ENA5His and simultaneously stable against the denaturing effect of methanol.

Xylose isomerase (XI) is a widely used enzyme in industry as a result of its ability to catalyze isomerization of D-glucose to D-fructose. Previously it has been shown that XI accepts all of the pentose sugars and many hexose sugars as isomerization substrates. In the present study novel tetrose isomerizations and C-2 epimerizations with both the D-and L-forms of the sugars by an industrial xylose isomerase (XI) from *Streptomyces rubiginosus* were described. Furthermore, the results showed that the real equilibrium of XI catalyzed reactions is not between two isomers but between a ketose and its two aldose isomers. These findings together with previous results show that XI can be used as a catalyst for production of a variety of sugars.

Obtaining homogeneous enzyme crystals is critical to their application as catalysts in a cross-linked form. In this study a method for the production of homogeneous crystals of XI was developed. Firstly, the XI crystal solubility was measured with respect to precipitant salt concentration, temperature, and pH. Secondly, based on the results of the solubility study, a process for the production of uniform XI crystals of different size classes was developed. Crystals with average crystal sizes between 12  $\mu$ m and 360  $\mu$ m were produced. XI crystals were further cross-linked by glutaraldehyde and L-lysine to prepare insoluble cross-linked xylose isomerase crystals (CLXIC).

The cross-linking of XI crystals improved their stability towards organic solvents. This can be exploited in the production of D-fructose and possibly also other sugars. Adding acetone to the reaction mixture enhanced the production of D-fructose from D-glucose catalyzed by CLXIC in terms of product yield and reaction rate. The D-fructose equilibrium concentration increased from 49% to 64% when increasing the acetone concentration from 0% to 90% in the reaction mixture at 50 °C. In 50% acetone the fructose production rate was more than doubled compared with that in a pure buffer solvent. Acetone seems to have only a minor role in the inactivation of cross-linked crystals. The residual activity of CLXIC was 70–80% of the initial activity after a 24-h incubation at 50 °C in a buffer solution (pH 7.2) containing 10–90% acetone. In the soluble form, the activity of XI decreased by 75% after incubation in 50% acetone for 24 h at 50 °C.

## Preface

This work was carried out in the Laboratory of Bioprocess Engineering, Department of Chemical Technology, Helsinki University of Technology, during the years 2000–2004.

First, I must thank Professor Matti Leisola for his advice, interest and enthusiasm, and for providing me the opportunity to work in his research group. I warmly thank Dr. Jouni Jokela for helping me throughout the work, for always being there, and for many fruitful discussions. Kalevi Visuri and Sinikka Uotila are thanked for their excellent co-operation. I gratefully acknowledge also all the other co-authors Kristiina Kiviharju, Prof. Outi Krause, Tarja Nevanen, Dr. Ossi Pastinen, Dr. Hans Shoemaker, and Kati Vilonen for their contribution to this work. Dr. Jarkko Valjakka is thanked for many fruitful discussions about protein crystallization.

I also wish to express my gratitude to the personnel and students of the Laboratory of Bioprocess Engineering for creating a good working environment and for everyone's willingness to help. Among others I thank Piia Appelqvist, Johanna Aura, Dr. Tero Eerikäinen, Fred Fenel, Dr. Tom Granström, Miia Helanto, Veera Home, Sanna Immonen, Seppo Jääskeläinen, Juha Kammonen, Johanna Karimäki, Phoung Le, Erkka Meskanen, Auli Murrola, Dr. Antti Nyyssölä, Anne Pihlajaniemi, Kirsti Pitkänen, Ilja Ritamo, Marjaana Rytelä, Heidi Salo, Dr. Harri Santa, Dr. Salem Shamekh, Noora Siren, Dr. Juha Torkko, Dr. Ossi Turunen, Esa Uosukainen, Dr. Niklas von Weymarn, Hairong Xiong, and Antti-Jussi Zitting.

The funding of the National Technology Agency of Finland (Tekes) and the Academy of Finland through the Graduate School in Chemical Engineering is gratefully acknowledged.

I would like to thank my parents, brothers, and friends for their support over the years. Finally, my deepest gratitude belongs to my wife Tarja and our children Emma and Aarne for showing me what really is important in life.

Kirkkonummi, June 15, 2004 Antti Vuolanto

## List of publications

This thesis is based on the following five publications, which are, throughout the summary, referred to as Roman numerals.

- I Vuolanto, A.; Kiviharju, K.; Nevanen, T.K.; Leisola, M.; Jokela, J. Development of cross-linked antibody Fab fragment crystals for enantioselective separation of a drug enantiomer, *Cryst. Growth Des.* **3** (2003) 777–782.
- II Vuolanto, A.; Leisola, M.; Jokela, J. Enantioselective affinity chromatography of a chiral drug by crystalline and carrier-bound antibody Fab fragment, *Biotechnol. Prog.* 20 (2004) 771–776.
- III Vuolanto, A.; Uotila, S.; Leisola, M.; Visuri, K. Solubility and crystallization of xylose isomerase from *Streptomyces rubiginosus*, J. Cryst. Growth. 257 (2003) 403–411.
- IV Vuolanto, A.; Pastinen, O.; Schoemaker, H.E.; Leisola, M. C-2 epimer formation of tetrose, pentose and hexose sugars by xylose isomerase, *Biocatal. Biotransform.* 20 (2002) 235–240.
- V Vilonen, K.; Vuolanto, A.; Jokela, J.; Leisola, M.; Krause, A.O.I. Enhanced glucose to fructose conversion in acetone with xylose isomerase stabilized by crystallization and cross-linking, *Biotechnol. Prog.* (2004) In press.

#### The author's contribution in the appended publications

Publication I: Antti Vuolanto was responsible of the research plan, carried out most of the experimental work, carried out the interpretation of the results, and produced the manuscript jointly with Jouni Jokela.

Publication II: Antti Vuolanto designed and carried out the experimental work, and produced the manuscript together with Jouni Jokela.

Publication III: Kalevi Visuri and Sinikka Uotila designed and carried out the experimental work jointly with Antti Vuolanto. Antti Vuolanto carried out the interpretation of experimental results and produced the manuscript with Kalevi Visuri.

Publication IV: Antti Vuolanto designed and carried out the experimental work. Antti Vuolanto carried out the interpretation of experimental results and produced the manuscript with Matti Leisola who wrote the first version of the manuscript.

Publication V: Antti Vuolanto and Kati Vilonen jointly designed the experiments, interpreted the results, and produced the manuscript. Kati Vilonen carried out the experimental work.

## Abbreviations

CLPC	Cross-linked protein crystal
CLAC	Cross-linked antibody fragment ENA5His crystal
CLXIC	Cross-linked xylose isomerase crystal
De	Effective diffusivity
DMF	<i>N</i> , <i>N</i> -dimethylformamide
DMSO	Trimethyl sulfoxide
DPDPB	1,4-di-[3'-(2'-pyridyldithio)propionamido]butane
GC	Gas chromatography
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HLADH	Horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
kDa	Kilodalton
MβCD	Methyl- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin
MPD	2-methyl-2,4-pentane-diol
MW	Molecular weight
MWCO	Molecular weight cut-off
NADH	Reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PEG	Polyethyleneglycol
PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonylfluoride
R	Radius of spherical catalyst particle
r <sub>actual</sub>	Actual reaction rate
r <sub>ideal</sub>	Ideal reaction rate
Sc-fluids	Supercritical fluids
TAME	Tosyl-L-arginine methylester
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
Tris	Tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane
XI	Xylose isomerase
Å	Ångström, 10 <sup>-10</sup> m
$\epsilon_{max}$	Maximum energy dissipation rate
Φ	Thiele modulus
η	Effectiveness factor
$ ho_c$	Density of catalyst

## Contents

ABST	<b>TRACT</b>
PREF	ACE
LIST	OF PUBLICATIONS 4
ABBF	REVIATIONS
CON	<b>FENTS</b>
1	INTRODUCTION
1.1	Crystallization of proteins9
1.2	Applications of protein crystallization9
1.2.1	Structure determination
1.2.2	Protein purification
1.2.3	Medical applications
1.2.4	Cross-linked protein crystals (CLPCs) 10
1.3	Chemical cross-linking of protein crystals 10
1.3.1	Glutaraldehyde
1.3.2	Other cross-linking reagents
1.4	Porous structure of CLPCs
1.5	Activity of CLPCs14
1.6	Stability of cross-linked protein crystals
1.7	Mechanical stability of CLPCs18
1.8	Cross-linked enzyme crystals as catalysts 19
1.8.1	Proteases
1.8.2	Lipases
1.8.3	Dehydrogenases
1.8.4	Other enzymes
1.8.5	Enzyme catalysis in supercritical fluids
1.9	Cross-linked protein crystals as separation media
1.10	X-ray crystallography
1.11	Design of new protein materials

1.12	Medical applications	27
1.13	Biosensor applications	27
2	AIMS OF THE WORK	28
3	MATERIALS AND METHODS	29
3.1	Antibody Fab fragment ENA5His	29
3.1.1	Purification of ENA5His [I]	29
3.1.2	Crystallization and cross-linking of ENA5His [I]	29
3.1.3	Preparation of native and cross-linked carrier-immobilized ENA5His [II]	29
3.1.4	Drug racemate [I,II]	29
3.1.5	Immunoaffinity chromatography of the drug racemate [II]	29
3.2	Xylose isomerase (XI)	30
3.2.1	Purification of XI [III, IV, V]	30
3.2.2	Solubility of XI crystals [III]	30
3.2.3	Crystallization of XI [III]	30
3.2.4	Cross-linking of XI crystals [V]	30
3.2.5	Measurement of initial reaction rates catalyzed by CLXIC (unpublished)	31
3.2.6	C-2 epimerization reactions catalyzed by XI [IV]	31
3.2.7	XI catalysis in the presence of organic solvents [V]	32
4	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	32
4.1	Model system for bioseparation applications	32
4.1.1	Crystallization of antibody fragment ENA5His [I]	32
4.1.2	Chiral separation of drug racemates by re-usable ENA5His columns [II]	33
4.2	Model system for biocatalytic applications	34
4.2.1	Solubility and crystallization of XI [III]	34
4.2.2	Preparation of uniform XI crystals (III)	35
4.2.3	Intracrystalline mass-transfer limitations (unpublished)	36
4.2.4	XI catalyzes a C-2 epimerization of sugars (IV)	37
4.2.5	Acetone enhances CLXIC catalyzed D-glucose isomerization to D-fructose (	(V)
		37
5	CONCLUSIONS	39
REFE	CRENCES	41

## **1** Introduction

Enzymes catalyze virtually all reactions in biological systems. They are highly active and specific catalysts. The specificity is the result of the active site in enzymes, which specifically binds the substrate that has a precise size and shape that only fits to the active site. The active site in enzymes can even distinguish between optical isomers and enantiotopic groups of chiral or prochiral molecules. There is a growing interest in application of proteins as catalysts in fine chemical production, as biosensors, as pharmaceuticals, and in food and detergent applications. Lalonde summarized [1] the main advantages in using enzymes in practical applications: they are highly selective, they are efficient, they work under ambient conditions at neutral pH, they are environmentally benign, a broad range of reactions are possible, and they are "green" catalysts producing less waste and consuming less energy. However, there are drawbacks in enzyme-catalyzed reactions. They can exhibit a slow reaction rate, they can be unstable in practical operational conditions, the storage stability can be poor, the downstream processing can be complex, the scale-up of enzymatic processes is often difficult, and the bulk supply of proteins is often limited [1, 2]. The slow reaction rate can be a result of the addition of organic solvents or reagents in the reaction mixture or the inhibition of enzymes at high concentrations of substrates or products, for example. Enzyme catalysts are inactivated by a variety of commonly encountered process conditions, including organic solvents, proteolysis, elevated temperatures, and a high concentration of organic reagents. Moreover, biocatalysts are commonly used as impure water-soluble protein preparations that contain only a small fraction of the active catalyst (usually 0.5-10%). In catalysis it is even possible that more catalyst is added than reactant [3]!

The properties of enzymes have been improved by protein engineering or by immobilization, for example. Protein engineering can be used in order to enhance both stability and activity. However, protein engineering is laborious and only one property of one protein can be altered at one time. Furthermore, expression systems and an economically viable production process have to be developed for the new protein. Enzyme immobilization is used to facilitate the down-stream processing and to improve the stability of enzymes. Immobilized enzymes can be easily removed from the reaction mixture and, thus, can be recycled and reused. However, the stability enhancement is usually negligible. Moreover, the use of an inert solid support leads to a low overall activity of an immobilized protein matrix.

Chemical cross-linking of enzyme crystals was first developed in the 1960's to stabilize enzyme crystals in order to facilitate the manipulation and the collection of crystallographic data by X-ray crystallography [4]. However, it was soon recognized that cross-linked crystalline enzymes were catalytically active [5]. Cross-linked enzyme crystals, or more generally cross-linked protein crystals (CLPCs) are created by crystallization of protein followed by a chemical cross-linking that "locks" the crystalline state outside the crystallization conditions. CLPCs form an active, insoluble, mechanically robust, and microporous protein matrix. CLPCs have been used as catalysts in various enzymatic production processes, as separation matrices, and in some other applications. However, the development of CLPC technology is still under way and the number of proteins commercially available as cross-linked crystals is very limited. Protein crystallization and CLPC technology are described below in greater detail.

### **1.1** Crystallization of proteins

A solution system remains at equilibrium until the point is reached where there is insufficient solvent to maintain full hydration of the solute molecules. If more solute is added to the solution, the system is no longer at equilibrium under this so-called supersaturated state. The system will be thermodynamically driven toward a new equilibrium corresponding free energy minimum by forming a solid phase. The solid phase can appear as either amorphous precipitate or crystals. The principle of crystallization is similar for small molecules (e.g., salts and small organic compounds) and macromolecules (e.g., proteins, DNA, and RNA). Three stages are common to all crystallizations: nucleation, crystal growth, and cessation of crystal growth. In nucleation molecules or non-crystalline aggregates (dimers, trimers, etc.) produce a stable aggregate with a repeating structure. The nucleus must first exceed a specific size, called the critical size, before it is capable of further growth. However, the formation of crystal nuclei from supersaturated solution does not necessarily result in the subsequent formation of macroscopic crystals. Cessation of crystal growth can occur for many reasons. The most obvious reason is that the equilibrium between the crystalline and soluble form is achieved.

The crystallization of proteins is usually more difficult than small molecule crystallization. This is probably a result of the difficulty to obtain a high quality protein sample for crystallization. Because precise protein—protein contacts are needed for the crystallization of proteins, any factor that introduce heterogeneity into the protein sample may have interfering effects on the crystallization. There are numerous factors that can introduce heterogeneity into a protein sample including differential glycosylation on the protein molecules, different conformations of the protein can be present, contamination in the form of other proteins, protein denaturation, and protein degradation [6].

The basic strategy to crystallize proteins is to bring the system into a state of limited degree of supersaturation. This can be done, for example, by removing the solvent, adding a precipitating agent, or by altering some physical properties such as temperature. However, there are dozens of other parameters that are involved in protein crystallization [6]. Protein crystallization is presented in detail in numerous handbooks (e.g., [6, 7]).

### **1.2** Applications of protein crystallization

### 1.2.1 Structure determination

Protein crystallization is mainly used for structure determination by X-ray crystallography where large, high quality crystals are needed. Obtaining high quality diffractive crystals is the bottleneck in protein structure determination. For structure determination purposes protein crystals are most often crystallized by small-scale microdiffusion methods (for a review of these methods, see Refs [6, 7]). Very often crystallization conditions are found after setting up hundreds or thousands of individual crystallization conditions employing the "trial and error" approach, as crystallization is often considered as a necessary evil in the structure determination work.

The structural analysis is based on the principle that in a perfect crystal all the molecules have the same conformation and orientation. When X-rays are focused through protein (or any other pure substance) crystal, individual atoms diffract the rays. The number of electrons in each atom determines the intensity of the scattering of X-rays and, thus, the X-rays striking particular atoms will all be diffracted in the same way. A diffraction

pattern is generated by the interference of individual X-rays. A series of diffraction patterns are taken from several angles and these patterns represent the way atoms are arranged in the molecule and can be used to determine the structure of the protein. There are currently more than 18000 protein structures in the Protein Data Bank (PDB) [8], which have been determined by X-ray diffraction analysis.

### 1.2.2 Protein purification

Crystallization is an efficient protein purification method. However, purification by crystallization is relatively rare even though the quality of the crystals is not crucial. Chromatographic methods have replaced protein crystallization in protein purification although the latter was commonly used earlier. However, protein purification by crystallization has many advantages: high yield, high purity in one step, unlimited scale-up possibilities, and the product is a highly concentrated protein crystal slurry ready for further formulation. Some industrial proteins, like xylose isomerase (EC 5.3.1.5) [9], cellulase (EC 3.2.1.4) [10], and protease (EC 3.4.-.-.) [11], have been purified by crystallization in large-scale.

### 1.2.3 Medical applications

A majority of small molecular weight drugs are produced in crystalline form because of the high storage stability, purity, and reproducibility of the drug properties [12]. There are hundreds of macromolecular therapeutic agents used in clinical trials or approved as drugs [13]. However, only insulin is produced and administered in a crystalline form [14]. According to Margolin and Navia [15] the crystallization of macromolecular pharmaceuticals can offer significant advantages, such as: a) protein purification by crystallization as presented above; b) high stability of the protein product compared with soluble or amorphous forms; c) crystals are the most concentrated form of proteins, which is a benefit for storage, formulation, and for drugs that are needed in high doses (e.g., antibiotics); d) the rate of crystal dissolution depends on the morphology, size, and additives; thus, crystalline proteins may be used as a carrier-free dosage form.

### 1.2.4 Cross-linked protein crystals (CLPCs)

In many applications crystallized proteins are not suitable for use as such as a result of their fragility and solubility. In order to produce a crystalline protein matrix that is insoluble also in other conditions than those used in crystallization, the crystals have to be chemically cross-linked. In general, chemical cross-linking of protein crystals creates an active and microporous protein matrix that can be used in catalytic and separation applications.

### **1.3** Chemical cross-linking of protein crystals

### 1.3.1 Glutaraldehyde

Protein crystals dissolve in other conditions than those used in the crystallization. Chemical cross-linking of protein crystals "locks" the crystalline state and, thus, the cross-linked protein crystals are insoluble also outside the conditions that initially led to crystallization. The most commonly used cross-linking reagent is a bifunctional aldehyde, glutaraldehyde. Most often, the cross-linking reaction is carried out near neutral pH by adding 0.1-2% (w/v) glutaraldehyde to the crystallization mother liquor containing the native protein crystals. This mixture is then incubated in cool conditions

(0-25 °C) for 0.5–2 h. The resulting chemical cross-linking takes place throughout the crystalline lattice and is intermolecular but intracrystalline.

It is well established that glutaraldehyde reacts with the free  $\varepsilon$ -amino groups of lysine residues in proteins. In numerous studies the amino acid composition of cross-linked protein crystals has been analyzed and it was clearly shown that only lysine residues of proteins reacted in the cross-linking reaction by glutaraldehyde [5, 16, 17, 18]. As an exception, an amino acid analysis of cross-linked chloroperoxidase (EC 1.11.1.10) crystals suggested that also serines and arginines were modified in the glutaraldehyde cross-linking reaction [19]. Crystallographic studies show that glutaraldehyde cross-linking reaction had only minor effects on the structure of lysozyme (EC 3.2.1.17) [20], carboxypeptidase A (EC 3.4.17.1) [4], subtilisin (EC 3.4.21.62) [21], an *N*-cadherin fragment [22], and a gp120 ternary complex [22]. The X-ray crystallographic data from triclinic lysozyme crystals indicate that only lysine residues were modified in glutaraldehyde cross-linking [20].

In principle, the carbonyl function in aldehydes reacts with free amino groups and the reaction product is a Schiff base. A general characteristic of Shiff bases is that they are readily hydrolyzed in acidic conditions. However, numerous examples show that the cross-linking reaction between glutaraldehyde and proteins is irreversible, shown by incubating cross-linked protein crystals in acidic solution [23], for example. This rules out a simple Shiff base formation.

Glutaraldehyde is known to form polymers in solution [24, 25, 26]. It is speculated that the ability of glutaraldehyde to stabilize protein crystals stems from the fact that in aqueous solution glutaraldehyde forms a mixture of oligomers of different lengths and structures [27], and therefore the most appropriate cross-linking species reacts with crystalline protein [17]. At acidic pH, the oligomers are cyclic hemiacetals (Figure 1a) [25, 26] that form Shiff bases in analogy with the mechanism of Cordes and Jencks [28]. At neutral or slightly alkaline pH, where protein cross-linking is carried out,  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ unsaturated glutaraldehyde polymers are formed (Figure 1b) [25, 26]. Basing his conclusions on earlier studies [24, 29], Wong [30] proposed a reaction mechanism where the unsaturated glutaraldehyde polymer cross-links the amino groups (lysine residues) of proteins as shown in Figure 1b. Rydon and co-workers have proposed a different reaction mechanism, where glutaraldehyde cross-linking of proteins leads mainly to formation of stable quaternary pyridinium compounds [25, 26]. As a conclusion, the mechanism of glutaraldehyde cross-linking of proteins leads mainly to formation of stable quaternary pyridinium compounds [25, 26]. As a conclusion, the mechanism of

Visuri [31] showed in his patent that glutaraldehyde cross-linking alone didn't provide insolubility of xylose isomerase (XI) crystals. However, when an amino group containing compound was added to the cross-linking reaction mixture, the resulting cross-linked XI crystals were insoluble. Visuri used ammonium salts, amines, and amino acids as the source of the additional amino groups. The reason for the improved cross-linking in the presence of exogenous amino groups remained unknown.



**Figure 1.** Polymerization of glutaraldehyde at a) acidic pH (redrawn from [32]) and b) at neutral pH and its cross-linking reaction with proteins (redrawn from [30]).

#### 1.3.2 Other cross-linking reagents

A great number of chemical cross-linking reagents capable of reacting with the side chains of amino acids of proteins have been identified (for a thorough review, see [30]). However, in addition to glutaraldehyde, only a few of them have been used in the preparation of cross-linked protein crystals. Dialdehydes analogous to glutaraldehyde have been used to a minor extent. Margolin *et al.* [33] used succinaldehyde, glyoxal, and octanaldehyde to cross-link subtilisin crystals. However, the properties of these cross-linked products were not reported in detail.

Quiocho and Richards [5] studied the cross-linking of carboxypeptidase A crystals also with cross-linking reagents other than glutaraldehyde. Crystals cross-linked with 1,3-difluoro-4,6-dinitrobenzene in resulted in insoluble crystals that were as active as glutaraldehyde cross-linked crystals. Also biphenyl-4,4'-bisdiazonium chloride was reported to cross-link carboxypeptidase crystals successfully, but no properties of the cross-linked crystals were provided. In their review Margolin and Navia [15] briefly described that they have used more than ten cross-linking agents. However, they don't provide any information about what proteins they have cross-linked and the properties of the cross-linked products. Margolin and Navia [15] described also a reversible cross-linking method. They modified *Candida rugosa* lipase (EC 3.1.1.3) by Traut's reagent in order to introduce additional SH groups to the protein. Then the SH groups were further cross-linked with DPDPB. When the water-insoluble cross-linked product was incubated with exogenous cysteine, the crystals dissolved completely and released 85% of the initial lipase activity.

Margolin *et al.* [34] described the cross-linking of glycoprotein crystals based on chemical carbohydrate-to-carbohydrate cross-linking. Carbohydrates in glucose oxidase (EC 1.1.3.4) crystals were first oxidized by sodium periodate and then cross-linked by 1,8-diaminooctane. Thereafter NaCHBH<sub>3</sub> was used to reduce the imino groups in the product. The resulting cross-linked product was slightly soluble in water and exhibited specific activity similar to the soluble counterpart. These crystals were used to produce gluconic acid. Margolin *et al.* also prepared carbohydrate cross-linked crystals of *C. rugosa* lipase and several vaccine antigens.

### **1.4 Porous structure of CLPCs**

In a crystalline form proteins are in a highly ordered three-dimensional array where the protein molecules are bound to each other with specific intermolecular interactions. Protein crystals contain not only protein molecules but also uniform solvent-filled pores that constitute 30–78% of the crystal volume [35, 36, 37] depending on the protein and the crystallization conditions. The solvent flows almost freely in the pores of crystalline proteins. Morozov et al. [38] measured that the self-diffusion coefficient of intracrystalline water in the tetragonal lysozyme crystals was reduced by about 30-40% compared with that of bulk water. Table 1 shows that the average diameter of the pores in cross-linked crystals varies between 25-80 Å, the porosity is 0.5-0.8, and the pore surface area is  $600-1800 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$  depending on the protein in question. The pore surface area of cross-linked crystals is comparable with that of inorganic porous materials, such as zeolites, silica gels, and activated carbon [15]. The pore sizes in Table 1 have been calculated by using a cylindrical pore model and symmetrical pore distribution. However, the pores within protein crystals are complicated in structure and cannot, thus, be described by a simple cylindrical model [36, 39, 40]. Morozova et al. [40] presented that the pore size in cross-linked tetragonal lysozyme crystals varied between 6-40 Å measured from crystallographic data. Figure 2 illustrates the pore structure in a native xylanase (EC 3.2.1.8) crystal lattice. The pore sizes measured from crystallographic data [36, 38] are systematically smaller than presented in table 1.

Protein	Solvent content	Porosity	Pore surface area (m <sup>2</sup> g <sup>-1</sup> )	Pore diameter (Å)	Ref
Thermolysin (EC 3.4.24.27)	50%	0.51	800	46	[36]
Lipase ( <i>Pseudomonas</i> cepacia) (EC 3.1.1.3)	74%	0.80	1800	82	[36]
Lipase (C. rugosa)	49%	0.50	900	38	[36]
Human serum albumin	-	0.65	1500	54	[36]
Xylose isomerase	41–53%	0.47	600	29	[39]

|--|



**Figure 2**. Crystal lattice structure of *Trichoderma reesei* xylanase II crystal. The solvent-filled channels are shown in black. The maximum cross section of the pore opening in the crystal is approximately  $7 \times 25$  Å [41]. The surface representation was computed from 1.5 Å resolution X-ray diffraction data [42].

### 1.5 Activity of CLPCs

In aqueous solvent the activity of cross-linked protein crystals is most often reduced compared with that of soluble proteins. Table 2 shows the activity of soluble proteins, crystalline proteins, and cross-linked crystalline proteins. As shown in the table the lower activity may a result from crystallinity or the chemical modification of proteins, or a combination of both.

Mass-transfer limitations have been recognized in numerous publications to decrease the activity of CLPCs compared with the soluble counterparts. There are three factors affecting the mass-transfer limitations: the size of the crystalline particle [5, 15, 43], the size of the substrate [15, 17, 21, 36], and the pore size of the crystal. As shown above, the sizes of the open channels in protein crystals are 10–80 Å in diameter. As a consequence, large molecules having a molecular weight higher than 1000–10000 g mol<sup>-1</sup>, depending on the protein crystal in question, cannot penetrate the crystals at all [36, 39]. Smaller molecules can diffuse through the pores. However, the diffusion rate can be considerably decreased compared with the diffusion rate in water. The effective diffusion coefficients of surfactants (MW 246–316 g mol<sup>-1</sup>) inside tetragonal lysozyme crystals were 3–4 orders of magnitude lower than those of the corresponding free molecules in water [44].

			Activity				
Protein	Reaction	Soluble	Crystalline	Cross-linked crystals (CLPC)	Crystal size* (µm)	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{Activity ratio} \\ \textbf{(V_{CLPC}/V_{soluble})} \end{array}$	Ref
Subtilisin	Hydrolysis of N-trans-cinnamoylimidazol	0.094 s <sup>-1</sup>	N.D.	0.115 s <sup>-1</sup>	<5	1.2	[18]
Subtilisin	Hydrolysis of TAME at pH 8.0	136 s <sup>-1</sup>	80 s <sup>-1</sup>	30 s <sup>-1</sup>	<5	0.2	[18]
Subtilisin	Hydrolysis of <i>N</i> -acetyl- L-phenylalanine ethyl ester in $15\%$ (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>	N.D.**	2.3 mmol min <sup>-1</sup> mg <sup>-1</sup>	1.3 mmol min <sup>-1</sup> mg <sup>-1</sup>	N.D.	_	[21]
Subtilisin	Hydrolysis of <i>N</i> -acetyl- L-phenylalanine ethyl ester in 0.1% NaCl	10 mmol min <sup>-1</sup> mg <sup>-1</sup>	N.D.	6 mmol min <sup>-1</sup> mg <sup>-1</sup>	N.D.	0.6	[21]
Carboxypeptidase A	Hydrolysis of carbobenzoxyglycyl-L- phenylalanine	140 ΔA <sub>570</sub> min <sup>-1</sup> mg <sup>-1</sup>	$0.5 \Delta A_{570} \ min^{-1} mg^{-1}$	0.3 ΔA <sub>570</sub> min <sup>-1</sup> mg <sup>-1</sup>	<5	2×10 <sup>-3</sup>	[5]
Carboxypeptidase A	Hydrolysis of carbobenzoxyglycyl-L- phenylalanine	10000 min <sup>-1</sup>	N.D.	364 min <sup>-1</sup>	0.5	4×10 <sup>-2</sup>	[43]
Carboxypeptidase B (EC 3.4.17.2)	Hydrolysis of benzoxyglycylarginine	3600 min <sup>-1</sup>	N.D.	220 min <sup>-1</sup>	1	6×10 <sup>-2</sup>	[45]
Lipase (C. antarctica) (EC 3.1.1.3)	Hydrolysis of <i>p</i> -nitrophenyl butyrate	1	N.D.	0.013	<1	1×10 <sup>-2</sup>	[46]
Lipase (C. rugosa)	Hydrolysis of chloroethyl ester of 2-(3- benzoylphenyl)propionic acid	$1.2 \text{ mmol} \text{h}^{-1} \text{ mg}^{-1}$	N.D.	1.4  mmol $\text{h}^{-1} \text{ mg}^{-1}$	2	1.2	[47]
Thermolysin	Hydrolysis of furylacryloylglycyl- L-leucine amide	1	N.D.	0.8	N.D.	0.8	[48]
Chloroperoxidase	Oxidation of thianthrene	555 s <sup>-1</sup>	N.D.	$0.85 \text{ s}^{-1}$	10	2×10 <sup>-3</sup>	[19]
Chloroperoxidase	Oxidation of thioanisole	4170 s <sup>-1</sup>	N.D.	28 s <sup>-1</sup>	10	7×10 <sup>-3</sup>	[19]
Catalase (EC 1.11.1.6)	Oxygen release from hydrogen peroxide	1	0.55	0.55	N.D.	0.6	[16]
Fructose diphosphate aldolase (EC 4.1.2.13)	Synthesis of tagetitoxin	1	0.65	0.82	pulverized	0.8	[49]
Lactate dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.27)	Lactate production from pyruvate	1	0.7	0.3	N.D.	0.3	[50]

**Table 2.** Activity of some cross-linked protein crystals (CLPC) compared to the activity of the protein in soluble or un-cross-linked crystalline form in aqueous solvent. Note that the units of activity are not comparable with each other as they are presented here in the same form as in the original publications.

\*shortest dimension; \*\*N.D. = not determined

Morozova *et al.* [40] calculated that the mobility of cations was 4–50 fold lower and that of anions 100–300 fold lower in the tetragonal lysozyme crystals compared with the mobilities in solution. Even the self-diffusion coefficient of intracrystalline water in the tetragonal lysozyme crystal is reduced by about 30–40% compared to that of bulk water [38].

The crystal size plays a crucial role in the activity of the crystals. Most of the catalytic reactions are taking place inside the crystals, as even with very small crystals (e.g.,  $1 \times 1 \times 2 \ \mu m^3$ ) more than 99% of the protein molecules are located in the interior of the crystal [15]. As a consequence, the substrate and the product have to diffuse from the bulk to the catalytic site and from the catalytic site to bulk solution, respectively. Table 3 shows the relative activity of cross-linked crystalline enzymes in respect to the crystal size. The effect of the crystal size on the activity depends on the kinetics of the reaction, the size of the pores, and the size of the substrate and product [5, 15]. The crystal size has the most dramatic effect on reactions involving large molecules that can diffuse only partially or cannot diffuse at all to the pores of crystal [15, 17, 21, 36].

Protein	Particle size in the smallest dimension (µm)	Relative activity* (per unit weight of enzyme)	Ref.
Carboxypeptidase A	58	1	[5]
	28	1.6	
	6	5.6	
Alcalase	40	1	[15]
(EC 3.4.21)	1.2	3.2	
Penicillin acylase (EC 3.5.1.11)	142 57	1 3.4	[15]

**Table 3.** The effect of particle size on the relative activity of cross-linked protein crystals.

\*Activity relative to the activity of the biggest crystals

Limited conformational flexibility may cause dramatically reduced protein activities [51]. In the crystal lattice proteins have multiple specific intermolecular interactions. These interactions may stabilize proteins but can also reduce the flexibility of protein molecules. Another source of limited flexibility is the chemical cross-linking. In recent reports Ayala *et al.* [19] and Costes *et al.* [52] showed that the specific activity of cross-linked crystals of chloroperoxidase and hydroxynitrile lyase (EC 4.1.2.37), respectively, decreased with increasing the glutaraldehyde concentration used in cross-linking. However, maximal stability and total insolubility was only achieved in conditions using high concentration of glutaraldehyde in both cases. Similar results were obtained with subtilisin [18]. However, Sobolov *et al.* [49] reported that the use of *increasing* amounts of glutaraldehyde increased also the specific activity of cross-linked fructose diphosphate aldolase crystals. The reason for this phenomenon is not known.

However, the reduced protein flexibility caused by crystallization and cross-linking can also be exploited. Grochulski *et al.* [53, 54] showed that the properties of cross-linked *C. rugosa* lipase crystal preparations were affected by the conformation of lipase during crystallization and cross-linking. In lipase molecule there is a certain "lid" that is "open" enabling substrate binding to the active site when the active site is unoccupied. However, when the "lid" is "closed" the substrate is enclosed to the active site of lipase. If lipase was crystallized and cross-linked "lid open", the activity was three times higher than if

crystallized "lid closed". The crystallization and cross-linking of lipase in "lid open" form allowed a rapid binding of the substrate to the active site and a rapid removal of the product from the active site thus increasing the specific activity.

In addition to the reduced flexibility the cross-linking can also have other effects on the activity of protein crystals. It is possible that glutaraldehyde cross-linking creates steric hindrances in the crystal lattice, which may occlude some active sites [51]. Chemical cross-linking may also modify catalytically important residues at or near the active site and, thus, affect the catalytic properties of the protein.

### **1.6** Stability of cross-linked protein crystals

The chemical cross-linking of protein crystals significantly enhances the stability against heat denaturation, proteolytic enzymes, and organic solvents compared with corresponding soluble proteins as shown in Table 4. The enhanced stability can be a result of crystallinity, chemical cross-linking of the proteins, or a combination of both. In the crystalline form proteins maintain better their native conformation in conditions that would lead to an unfolding of soluble protein [15]. This is a result of the highly ordered three-dimensional array of protein molecules in crystal where protein molecules are bound to each other with specific intermolecular interactions. The crystalline environment enhances the stability of proteins against heat and other denaturants by preventing unfolding, aggregation, or dissociation of proteins [15, 18, 30]. The chemical cross-linking is another source of stabilization. It has been shown that long glutaraldehyde cross-linking times yielding a high degree of cross-linking is needed to achieve maximal stability of cross-linked protein preparates [18, 19, 51]. It seems that cross-linked crystals are universally resistant to digestion by proteolytic enzymes [18, 20, 23, 48, 55]. Possibly, proteases can, at least partly, digest the proteins locating on the protein crystal surface. However, these digested surface proteins remain attached to the surface of the crystal preventing the proteases to enter the crystals. Because only a small fraction of the protein molecules are located on the crystal surface, the activity of crosslinked crystal remains at the initial level.

		Half-life		
Protein	Incubation conditions	Soluble	Cross-linked crystals	Ref.
Stability at high temp	eratures			
Horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.1)	HEPES buffer, 30 °C, pH 8	14 d	No loss in activity after 3 months	[56]
Subtilisin	55 °C, 0.1 M acetate, pH 5.7	2 h	No loss in activity after 20 h	[18]
Yeast alcohol dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.1)	40 °C, 0.1 M Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7	<1d	No loss in activity after 4 d	[23]
Lactate dehydrogenase	25 °C, 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.5	<4 d	10% loss in activity after 25 d	[50]
Lipase ( <i>C. antarctica</i> )	40 °C, 0.02 M phosphate buffer, pH 7	<4 d	No loss in activity after 6 d	[46]
Lipase (C. rugosa)	40 °C, 0.01 M Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7	5 h	>13 d	[47]
Thermolysin	65 °C, Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7	6 h	No loss in activity after 5 d	[48]
Xylose isomerase	77.5 °C, 45% (w/v) glucose/fructose solution, pH 7	71 min	407 min	[57]
Stability in the presen	<u>ce of proteolytic enzymes</u>			
α-Chymotrypsin (EC 3.4.21.1)	5 mg ml <sup>-1</sup> unspecific bacterial protease, 0.1 M citrate buffer, pH 4	4 min	11 h	[23]
Thermolysin	Mixture of <i>Streptomyces griseus</i> proteases, 65 °C, Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7	<5 min	5% loss in activity after 4 d	[48]
Stability in the presen	<u>ce of organic solvents</u>			
Horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase	90% 2-propanol, 25 °C	<1 min	2 d	[56]
α-Chymotrypsin	50% (v/v) dioxane, 0.1 M citrate buffer, pH 4	0.5 h	2.3 h	[23]
α-Chymotrypsin	50% (v/v) hexadecane, 0.1 M citrate buffer, pH 4	16 h	3500 h	[23]
Subtilisin	Acetonitrile, 45 °C	5 d	200 d	[58]
Subtilisin	50% acetone, 40 °C	4 d	No loss in activity after 7 d	[55]
Lipase (C. rugosa)	50% DMSO, 25 °C, 0.01 M Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7	0.7 h	300 h	[47]

**Table 4.** Stability of soluble proteins and cross-linked protein crystals.

#### 1.7 Mechanical stability of CLPCs

Native protein crystals are known to be fragile and they are easily cracked or chipped even by gentle mechanical forces. In contrast, cross-linked protein crystals are considerably more stable towards mechanical stresses than native crystals. The source of this mechanical stabilization is clearly the chemical cross-linking. Quite surprisingly, only Lye and co-workers have actually measured the mechanical stability of cross-linked protein crystals using *C. rugosa* lipase and yeast alcohol dehydrogenase as model crystals. Flat plate (thickness <2  $\mu$ m) crystals of lipase [23] cross-linked in 0.5% glutaraldehyde and yeast alcohol dehydrogenase [59] cross-linked in 0.05% glutaraldehyde remained intact in conditions equivalent to those expected in the high-shear regions of stirred-tank reactors ( $\varepsilon_{max} = 0.34 \times 10^5$  W kg<sup>-1</sup>). The native crystals of yeast alcohol dehydrogenase were significantly fragmented in the same conditions [59]. However, at high shear stress ( $\varepsilon_{max} = 6.8 \times 10^5$  W kg<sup>-1</sup>) both lipase and yeast alcohol dehydrogenase crystals were broken, and the median crystal size was decreased from an initial value of 13 µm to 7 µm and 12 µm to 7 µm for lipase and yeast alcohol dehydrogenase, respectively [23, 59]. The lipase crystals that were cross-linked in 5% glutaraldehyde, and small cross-linked rod-shaped yeast alcohol dehydrogenase size of 5 µm, were totally resistant even to the high shear stress ( $\varepsilon_{max} = 6.8 \times 10^5$  W kg<sup>-1</sup>). The visual inspection of the broken crystals showed significant rounding of the crystal edges. This suggests that the mechanism of breakage is primarily a result of attrition by crystal-crystal collisions [59].

The mechanical integrity of cross-linked yeast alcohol dehydrogenase crystals was studied under compressive and abrasive forces found in dead-end filtration. The cake resistance was constant over five cycles of mixing and filtration at a pressure of 100 kPa indicating no breakage of the crystals. Rod-shaped crystals had a lower cake resistance than the hexagonal crystals. This was explained by the size and shape of the crystals. Rod-shaped crystals are cylindrical and allow more voidage within the cake. The hexagonal crystals are flat plates that can stack on each other forming a very dense cake increasing the cake resistance. As a conclusion, Vaghjiani *et al.* [23] stated that the control of the size and shape of the crystals is important in relation to the downstream processing of cross-linked crystal suspensions.

### **1.8** Cross-linked enzyme crystals as catalysts

The reason for the choice to use an enzyme in the form of cross-linked crystals is most often based on the stability of the cross-linked crystals in both aqueous and organic media. The stability is achieved without a considerable loss of specific activity. Cross-linked crystals are insoluble throughout the production process. They are mechanically robust and can be easily removed from the reaction mixture by filtration or centrifugation and, thus, they can be recycled, which increases the productivity of the catalyst [e.g., 17, 23, 47, 59, 60]. The purity of the catalyst leads to a high enantioselectivity of the reaction [55]. Cross-linked crystals are, in addition, an extremely stable storage formula compared to soluble enzymes, for example [16, 18, 48, 49, 50, 56]. Table 5 summarizes the catalytic applications where cross-linked enzyme crystals have been used.

Enzyme	Reaction	Ref.
Subtilisin	Synthesis of peptides and peptidomimetics	[17, 55]
Subtilisin	Regioselective hydrolysis	[55]
Subtilisin	Transesterification	[55]
Subtilisin	Catalysis in supercrirical fluids	[61, 62, 63, 64]
Thermolysin	Synthesis of peptides	[17]
Lipase	Enantioselective ester hydrolysis	[47, 60, 65]
Lipase	Enantioselective transesterification	[65, 66]
Lipase	Enantioselective acylation	[65]
Hydroxynitrile lyase	Asymmetric syntheses	[52]
Fructose diphosphate aldolase	Synthesis of tagetitoxin	[49]
Xylose isomerase	Carbohydrate conversions	[68, 69]
Xylanase	Hydrolysis of xylo-oligomers	[41]
Alcohol dehydrogenase	Reduction of ketones with cofactor regeneration	[70]
Lactate dehydrogenase	Production of lactate	[50]
Organophosphorous hydrolase (EC 3.1.8.1)	Hydrolysis of pesticide	[71]

Table 5. Catalytic applications where cross-linked enzyme crystals have been used.

#### 1.8.1 Proteases

The protease subtilisin is used in synthetic chemistry in both aqueous and organic solvents for regio- and enantiospecific reactions, amide bond syntheses, and hydrolyses. Two major problems have limited the use of subtilisin: low stability in water and water-miscible solvents, and low activity in neat organic solvents [55]. The reason for low stability in water is the autodigestion, which reduces the half-life of the catalyst and makes the product purification difficult.

Tüchsen and Ottesen [18] demonstrated that cross-linked subtilisin crystals were resistant to the autodigestion, which rapidly decreased the activity of soluble subtilisin in aqueous solvent. Wang et al. [55] showed that cross-linked subtilisin crystals retained full activity after 7 d incubation in aqueous buffer at 60 °C, 50% acetone at 40 °C, and in 70% DMF at 25 °C. Crude enzyme extract lost half of its activity after 11 h in aqueous buffer and after 4 d in 50% acetone. Cross-linked subtilisin crystals were highly active in various organic solvents. However, cross-linked crystals required a small amount of water in neat organic solvents, especially in a polar solvent such as acetone or DMF [55]. The total absence of water resulted in the loss of catalyst selectivity and ultimately in the complete loss of activity [55]. Xu and Klibanov [72] showed that the use of the cross-linked crystalline form of subtilisin in neat organic solvents enhances the enzyme activity compared with lyophilized subtilisin precipitate. The activity of lyophilized subtilisin in nonaqueous media is affected by the pH of the solution, where the lyophilization is conducted (so called "pH memory"). When lyophilized enzymes are suspended in nonaqueous media, the protonation status of these groups does not change. In the case of cross-linked crystals, water can be removed by repeated washing with a water-miscible solvent. The solvent diffuses through the channels in the cross-linked crystals and the interstitial water diffuses out. Since this occurs while there is still water present, the protonation state adjusts accordingly, as the protons are not kinetically trapped [72]. However, Montaneñez-Clemente *et al.* [73] showed that the activity of subtilisin Carlsberg was enhanced by lyophilization with methyl- $\beta$ -cyclodextrin (M $\beta$ CD). This method yielded a catalyst that was more active than cross-linked crystals of subtilisin. In all demonstrated reactions the M $\beta$ CD-co-lyophilized enzyme was more active and as enantioselective as the cross-linked crystalline preparation.

In the synthesis of peptides and peptidomimetics, the use of polar, water miscible organic solvents is useful since it improves the substrate solubility and shifts the equilibrium towards products [74,75,76]. Wang et al. [55] synthesized peptides with cross-linked subtilisin crystals. Acetonitrile containing 1% water was found to be the best solvent for the synthesis. In the same conditions the soluble enzyme was inactivated rapidly. Crosslinked subtilisin crystals accepted both L- and D-amino acid amides as nucleophiles and showed a similar reaction rate for both enantiomers. One major benefit with the crosslinked subtilisin crystals is the lack of autodigestion. A peptide synthesis catalyzed by soluble subtilisin leads to product purification problems as a result of the contaminating peptides produced by subtilisin autodigestion. Persichetti et al. [17] showed that crosslinked thermolysin crystals catalyzed several peptide syntheses. The specific activities of soluble and cross-linked crystalline thermolysin were very close to each other. Also a 30 amino acid peptide, an oxidized insulin B chain, was a suitable substrate for cross-linked thermolysin crystals with an initial rate of 4% of that observed for a soluble catalyst. However, in the cross-linked crystalline form thermolysin was considerably more stable than the soluble enzyme in ethyl acetate and in mixtures of water-miscible solvents (DMF, THF, acetone) and water [17]. St. Clair and Navia [48] also reported a greatly enhanced stability of thermolysin in the cross-linked crystalline form.

Wang *et al.* [55] studied the regioselective hydrolysis of the terminal amide of peptide amides by cross-linked subtilisin crystals. The catalyst accepted a broad range of substrates and the reaction yields were quantitative. This hydrolysis method renders it possible to carry out the reactions in mild conditions. Normally harsh conditions are needed for regioselective hydrolysis leading to product racemication. Cross-linked subtilisin crystals have also been used for the hydrolysis of proteins, but they suffered from severe mass-transfer limitations of the high molecular weight substrates [18]. Wang et al. [55] used cross-linked subtilisin crystals also for a variety of reactions: enantioselective synthesis of a variety of molecules, regioselective reactions of many polyfunctional molecules, and for transesterification of amino acid and peptide esters. The cross-linked subtilisin catalyst was found to be excellent as a result of the high activity and stability in organic solvents, high regio- and enantioselectivity, and mild reaction conditions. The reusability of cross-linked subtilisin crystals was demonstrated by the resolution of a certain amine. After seven resolution cycles cross-linked crystals retained full activity without loss in enantioselectivity [55]. The crude enzyme extract lost 50% of its activity after two cycles.

### 1.8.2 Lipases

Lipases can be used for stereoselective ester conversions, regioselective and chemoselective acylations and deacylations, and simple hydrolysis of esters under mild reaction conditions [47]. Most often crude enzyme preparations have been used as biocatalysts because of their availability and low cost. However, crude lipase mixtures suffer from stability problems in organic solvents and they contain contaminating side

activities that have unexpected synthetic properties affecting the enzyme catalysis [47, 77, 66, 65]. Lalonde *et al.* [47] identified competing hydrolase activities and protease activity in a crude extract of *C. rugosa* lipase. Cross-linked lipase crystals are considerably more stable in the presence of organic solvents than the soluble crude lipase preparations [46, 47, 77, 66, 65]. Neither cross-linked soluble lipase nor its precipitate lacking crystalline structure exhibit stability beyond the level of soluble enzyme [47]. Soluble pure lipases cannot be used in synthesis as a result of low stability against high temperatures and organic solvents [47, 78, 79]. The stabilization effect in organic solvents is extremely important, since many organic compounds are poorly soluble in an aqueous solvent. Both substrate specificity and enantioselectivity of cross-linked lipase crystals are markedly different from those of crude enzyme extract [47, 66, 65], which shows the benefit of using pure protein catalysts. In the preparation of cross-linked lipase crystals the enzyme is simultaneously purified in the crystallization.

The use of cross-linked *C. rugosa* lipase crystals in organic solvents greatly improved enantioselectivities of several reactions including the resolution of acids by esterification [65], acylation of secondary alcohols with different carboxylic acids and with activated esters [65], and the ester hydrolysis [47]. The increased enantioselectivity was attributed to the purity of the protein. Persichetti *et al.* [65] showed that cross-linked lipase crystals were six orders of magnitude more active than lyophilized lipase in the resolution of menthol with vinyl butyrate in toluene [65]. Lalonde *et al.* conducted preparative resolutions (100 g scale) of methyl-Ibuprofen and Ketoprofen by cross-linked lipase [47]. The crystalline catalyst was recycled 18 times. During this time the specific activity dropped by 44%. However, immobilized lipase preparation lost virtually all of its activity after the first reaction cycle. Browne *et al.* [66] studied the production of inherently chiral calix[4]arenes by cross-linked crystals of lipases from *Mucor miehei* (EC 3.1.1.3) and *Aspergillus niger* (EC 3.1.1.3). The use of *A. niger* lipase in a cross-linked crystalline form improved the enantioselectivity of the reaction over chemical catalysis and free *C. rugosa* lipase catalysed synthesis.

Collins *et al.* [60] reported the scale-up of chiral resolution using cross-linked crystalline lipase from *Pseudomonas cepacia*. The reaction studied was the chiral resolution of *R*-*sec*-phenethyl alcohol from racemic *R/S-sec*-phenethyl acetate. The reaction parameters were first studied in small-scale (0.2–1 l) in order to determine the optimum conditions for a 100 l reactor. The reaction mixture contained two phases: aqueous phase and organic phase consisting of the substrate *R/S-sec*-phenethyl acetate. Cross-linked lipase catalyst was not detrimentally affected by a high shear in the reactor needed to obtain homogenous mixing in the two-phase system even in large-scale. In small-scale, the reaction yield was 48% and the product was formed with 99% enantiomeric excess. These values were not changed in the 100 l scale. A total number of nine runs were made with the same batch of cross-linked lipase crystals. In the first run, 50 g of crystals were added to the reaction mixture (0.5 g  $\Gamma^{-1}$ ). After nine runs about 12.5 g of lipase crystals were collected from the reactor. This decrease in the catalyst amount was a result of the problems in the catalyst decreased to one third of the initial value.

In addition to catalytic applications, the cross-linked crystalline form of lipase can be used to determine the reaction kinetics and the parameters controlling the enantioselectivity in non-aqueous media, which cannot be studied by pure native enzymes as a result of their instability [65]. Cross-linked crystals are the only pure form stable and active enough for mechanistic studies [46, 47, 77, 66, 65].

### 1.8.3 Dehydrogenases

The use of dehydrogenases in synthetic applications is often limited by the instability of both the enzymes and their nicotinamide cofactors [70]. St. Clair et al. [56] crystallized and glutaraldehyde cross-linked horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase (HLADH) in the presence of the reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH), which was tightly bound to the enzyme by cross-linking. No leakage of cofactor from cross-linked horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase crystallized with NADH was detected in a prolonged incubation of concentrated protein crystal slurry. This was expected, as in the presence of the cofactor, horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase undergoes a large conformational change enclosing the cofactor [80] and, thus, preventing its dissociation from holoenzyme after crystals were cross-linked. Cross-linked crystals were active catalysts without any cofactor addition and catalyzed a reduction of several ketones. When HLADH was crystallized in the absence of NADH, the activity of the resulting cross-linked crystals was low even in the presence of exogenous NADH. The crystallization and cross-linking of HLADH in the presence of NADH greatly improved the stability of the enzyme and the cofactor. The half-lives of soluble HLADH and NADH were about 14 d and 3 d in a buffer solution at 30 °C, respectively. The cross-linked HLADH-NADH crystals maintained full activity after three months of incubation. Especially the stability of HLADH in the presence of organic solvents is important, because high concentrations of isopropanol, ethanol, and butanediol can be used for cofactor regeneration. The half-life of cross-linked HLADH-NADH crystals in 90% isopropanol was 2 d at 25 °C, for example. Soluble HLADH precipitated and lost activity immediately in these conditions. The cofactor recycle inside cross-linked HLADH-NADH crystals was demonstrated by the reduction of cinnamaldehyde in the presence of 200 mM of 1,4-butanediol to regenerate the cofactor. A column packed with approximately 50 mg of HLADH-NADH containing about 1.2 µmol NADH reduced 15 mmol cinnamaldehyde to cinnamyl alcohol.

Sobolov *et al.* [50] studied the production of lactate from pyruvate in an electrolytic cell catalyzed by cross-linked lactate dehydrogenase crystals. The cross-linked crystalline form of the enzyme was used in the study solely because of the improved stability. Lactate dehydrogenase produces lactate from pyruvate and NADH. Only 10% of the activity of cross-linked crystalline lactate dehydrogenase was lost during 25 days of operation, while soluble lactate dehydrogenase lost its activity totally after 5 days. Furthermore, the cross-linked lactate dehydrogenase crystals could be recycled. The yield of lactate from pyruvate was 70% with cross-linked lactate dehydrogenase crystals containing the same amount of fresh enzyme that was present in the corresponding experiment in the form of cross-linked crystals was added daily to the reaction mixture.

### 1.8.4 Other enzymes

Leisola and co-workers have studied cross-linked xylose isomerase (CLXIC) and xylanase crystals in packed bed reactors [41, 68, 69]. Because of the high enzyme to substrate ratio, they were able to identify new substrates for xylose isomerase (XI) [69]. They used a CLXIC reactor for isomerizations of a variety of pentose and hexose sugars [69], such as for the production of an unnatural sugar, L-ribose, from L-arabinose [69]. However, the reported efficiency of this conversion was low compared with chemical synthesis [81] or catalysis by a specific enzyme [82, 83]. They further showed that the packed bed reactor was capable of catalysis and simultaneous product separation [68].

The reason for this was that each of the sugars (substrates and products) had a different reaction rate and binding characteristics to the CLXIC matrix. Similar product separation was observed in the hydrolysis of xylotetraose to xylose by cross-linked xylanase crystals in a packed-bed reactor [68].

Sobolov *et al.* [49] characterized cross-linked fructose diphosphate aldolase crystals for the synthesis of tagetitoxin [67]. Soluble fructose diphosphate aldolase was an effective synthetic catalyst but suffered from instability, water insolubility of unnatural substrates, and high cost. However, the cross-linked crystalline form was highly stable without any observable loss of activity after 6 months of incubation in room temperature. In the same conditions the soluble enzyme lost its activity after 3–10 days. The specific activity of cross-linked crystals was 65% of the activity obtained with the soluble enzyme. In organic solvents (e.g., DMSO, acetonitrile, dioxane) the soluble form of fructose diphosphate aldolase lost 75–97% of the initial specific activity after 1 h incubation. However, with cross-linked crystals no significant loss of activity was observed.

Hydroxynitrile lyase is used for asymmetric syntheses of intermediates for pharmaceuticals and agrochemicals. Hydroxynitrile lyase have been used both in soluble and carrier-immobilized forms. However, the stability of these enzyme preparations is relatively low both in aqueous and organic media [84, 85]. Costes *et al.* [52] prepared cross-linked hydroxynitrile lyase crystals and compared this with immobilized preparates. They used dry acetone in the cross-linking reaction in order to reduce the cross-linking time and glutaraldehyde concentration. They found that by increasing the concentration of glutaraldehyde in cross-linking the resulting crystals were more stable. The specific activity of cross-linked crystals was two orders of magnitude lower than the activity of Celite-immobilized hydroxynitrile lyase. However, the cross-linked crystals were much more stable in the presence of organic solvents. After seven one-hour reactions in a dibutyl ether solution, only 1% of the initial activity of the cross-linked crystals was retained in the same conditions.

An organophosphorous hydrolase has been recognized to hydrolyze P–O, P–F, P–S, and P–CN bonds making a variety of chemical agents nonhazardous, including chemical warfare nerve gas VX [15, 71]. However, for practical applications the activity and stability has to be enhanced. Hoskin *et al.* [71] showed that cross-linked crystals of the organophosphorous hydrolase hydrolyzed the common pesticide Demeton-S. The authors assumpted that in the form of cross-linked crystals organophosphorous hydrolase could be economically used in practical applications. However, experimental data supporting this assumption was not shown.

### 1.8.5 Enzyme catalysis in supercritical fluids

Supercritical fluids (sc-fluids) are liquids that are heated under pressure until the vapor phase is as dense as the liquid phase. Sc-fluids have liquid-like densities and gas-like diffusivities. They are an environmentally friendly alternative to organic solvents for biocatalysis, because the solvent can be completely removed after depressurization. The most common sc-fluids are sc-CO<sub>2</sub> and sc-ethane. Barreiros and co-workers have studied the properties of cross-linked subtilisin crystals in sc-fluids [61, 62, 63, 64]. The model system was cross-linked crystalline subtilisin catalyzing transesterification reactions. Cross-linked crystals in sc-ethane were 2–10-fold more active than in hexane or acetonitrile under similar conditions [61]. The specific activity of cross-linked crystals in

sc-ethane was 5–100-fold higher than the specific activity of lyophilized subtilisin. Especially with low water activities cross-linked crystals were superior [61]. The activity of cross-linked subtilisin was further enhanced by addition of salt hydrates [63] or zeolites [64] to the reaction media. This was probably a result of acid-base buffer effect of these additives in low water-activity media. The enzymatic catalysis by cross-linked crystalline enzymes in sc-carbon dioxide has been patented recently [86].

### 1.9 Cross-linked protein crystals as separation media

Protein crystals have many properties that make them interesting separation matrices. They are made of L-amino acids that create an asymmetric environment. The interior of many globular proteins is hydrophobic. Several amino acid residues are either negatively or positively charged leading to ion exchange properties of proteins. Enzymes have also specific binding sites for their substrates and cofactors. In addition, protein crystals are microporous materials.

Immobilized proteins have been used in chiral separations (for a review, see [87]). Vilenhick *et al.* [36] showed for the first time that cross-linked protein crystals can also be used in chiral separations. They described the chiral separations of phenylglycine and phenyllactic acid by cross-linked thermolysin crystals. These compounds are not substrates for thermolysin. Moreover, they showed that the cross-linked precipitate of human serum albumin did not separate the two enantiomers of folinic acid, while cross-linked human serum albumin crystals gave good chiral resolution. This result suggests that the crystallinity is needed for good separation characteristics. The high surface area of crystalline proteins explained this result. Pastinen *et al.* [39] used cross-linked xylose isomerase crystals CLXIC in a chiral separation of a racemic mixture of D/L-arabitol. However, arabitol is also a substrate analog of the enzyme and the separation can be a result of the chiral nature of the protein, the specific binding of arabitol to the active site, or a combination of both. CLXIC showed also weak chiral separation ability for some D/L pairs of some amino acids [39].

CLXIC separated n-alcohols from  $C_1$  to  $C_8$  based on the hydrophobic interaction between the carbon chain of the alcohols and the protein [39]. The retention time of 1-octanol was approximately doubled compared with the retention time of methanol. CLXIC separated L-forms of tryptophane, histidine, tyrosine, and phenylalanine from other natural amino acids [39]. Vilenchik *et al.* [36] showed that cross-linked thermolysin crystals separated a mixture of Ibuprofen and phenyllactic acid. The mechanism of these separations is not known.

Pastinen *et al.* [88] used CLXIC as an affinity separation matrix for sugar alcohols xylitol and sorbitol, which are substrate analogs to xylose isomerase. Sugar alcohols were specifically bound to CLXIC even from impure solutions, and were eluted by dilute CaCl<sub>2</sub>. Only the active form of the enzyme had the separation ability. However, only one molecule of xylitol or sorbitol was bound to each active center of xylose isomerase, which led to a low overall separation capacity of 1 g xylitol per 500 g CLXIC.

Both Pastinen *et al.* [39] and Vilenchik *et al.* [36] pointed out the good mechanical stability of a cross-linked protein crystal stationary phase. A cross-linked xylose isomerase column was packed with 30 MPa pressure, and thermolysin and human serum albumin columns with 10 MPa pressure, which shows the rigidity of the crystals [36, 39].

Vilenchik *et al.* [36] used a single column of both thermolysin and human serum albumin crystals for more than 500 injection cycles without any loss of separation efficiency.

### **1.10 X-ray crystallography**

All protein crystals are sensitive to radiation used in X-ray crystallography, which is an essential tool in the structure determination of proteins. In some cases the crystal sensitivity is unmanageable and the diffraction quality of crystals deteriorates rapidly. Quiocho and Richards initially described the concept of cross-linked protein crystals in 1964 [4]. They stabilized carboxypeptidase A crystals by glutaraldehyde treatment for Xray structure analysis. There are only minor changes in the diffraction pattern of crosslinked protein crystals compared with that of the native crystals [4, 20, 21, 22]. Crosslinked crystals render it possible to study the protein structure in organic solvents, which cannot be done with native crystals [21]. Recently Lusty [22] described the use of crystal cross-linking together with cryocrystallography, which is a common way to increase the stability of crystals towards the radiation. In cryocrystallography, crystals are treated with a cryoprotectant (e.g., sugar solutions, ethylene glycol, PEG, glycerol) and cooled rapidly to cryogenic temperatures (e.g., with nitrogen gas around 100 K). However, the crystals often suffer damage on cooling. Lusty showed that glutaraldehyde cross-linking protected the crystals from the damage on cooling without any effect on the diffraction properties.

### **1.11** Design of new protein materials

Dotan *et al.* [89] described the production of a pre-designed protein crystal lattice. They chose a nearly tetrahedral lectin concavalin A as a model building block. This lectin is a tetramer with a fully characterized three-dimensional structure. The lectin tetramer contains four binding sites for  $\alpha$ -D-mannopyranoside or  $\alpha$ -D-glucopyranoside. They used computer modeling, which suggested that the cross-linking of soluble lectin tetramers by bismannoside would result in the formation of a diamond-like three-dimensional protein lattice. Indeed, the addition of bismannopyranoside to the lectin solution resulted in a rapid formation of lectin crystals, which were simultaneously cross-linked. A chemical analysis of the bismannopyranoside content in the crystals supported the hypothesis that each lectin molecule was cross-linked through four molecules to its neighbors. The size of the resulting crystals was 0.1–100 µm depending on the pH in the crystallization. The cross-linked crystalline product was insoluble and resistant to pH changes.

Häring and Shreier [90] combined the methods of chemical modification of the enzymatic framework as well as the enzymatic active site. First they prepared cross-linked crystals of protease subtilisin. Then they activated the active site serine 221 by PMSF and subsequently PMSF was substituted by sodium hydrogen selenide. The selenol group was oxidized with hydrogen peroxide to yield a stable seleninic acid form of cross-linked subtilisin crystals. As a result, the semisynthetic seleno-subtilisin showed glutathione peroxidase activity, and catalyzed kinetic resolution of several racemic hydroperoxides. The preparation of seleno-subtilisin has been described earlier [91]. However, the crystalline seleno-subtilisin showed a high specific activity, and stability against organic solvents and high temperatures compared to amorphous seleno-subtilisin [90].

### **1.12 Medical applications**

St. Clair *et al.* [92] investigated the possibility to use cross-linked protein crystals as antigens. Currently the progress is toward subunit vaccines, which are composed of a purified antigenic determinant separated from the disease-causing organism. To enhance the immune response, subunit vaccines universally require adjuvants and delivery vehicles. Human serum albumin in a cross-linked crystalline form showed up to 30-fold increased immunogenity and increased stability over the soluble albumin that was formulated with a commercial aluminium adjuvant. Additionally, Margolin *et al.* [34] crystallized and carbohydrate cross-linked several vaccine antigens to formulate vaccines. However, no details of the function of these antigens as vaccines were provided.

Margolin and Navia described in their review [15] that cross-linked protein crystals could be used in oral lumenal therapy. Metabolic or gastrointestinal diseases are often the result of impaired or missing enzymes or protein function in the biochemical pathway. However, the conditions in the gastrointestinal track are challenging for protein drug delivery. The pH is acidic (pH < 2) and there is a high concentration of proteases in the stomach and gut. Because of the excellent stability and good activity of proteins in the cross-linked crystalline form, the patient can orally administer a cross-linked crystalline therapeutic protein to perform the desired reactions in the gut lumen. According to Margolin and Navia [15] preliminary results indicate that in a cross-linked crystalline form lipases are at least 100-fold more active and significantly more stable than commercial lipase products. These principles are also described in a recent patent application [93].

### **1.13** Biosensor applications

De Mattos *et al.* [94] compared glucose biosensors prepared from commercial lyophilized glucose oxidase, crystalline glucose oxidase, and cross-linked crystalline glucose oxidase. The best performance in terms of sensitivity, detection limit, and operational stability was obtained with biosensors based on cross-linked protein crystal technology. Probably, the enzyme stability during immobilization, which includes drying the enzyme layer and contact between dried glucose oxidase and ethanol, is critical. The cross-linked crystals seemed more resistant to denaturation upon the preparation of the sensor.

## 2 Aims of the work

Cross-linked protein crystals (CLPC's) possess many excellent properties including high volumetric activity and stability. Thus, CLPC technology shows great potential as a novel protein formulation for use in various practical applications. The aim of this work was to study CLPC technology in bioseparation and biocatalytic applications. Two model systems were used in the study.

An antibody Fab fragment ENA5His specifically recognizes one enantiomer of a racemic mixture of a chiral drug [95]. Previously, ENA5His has been used in a carrierimmobilized form as an immunoaffinity chromatography material in order to prepare pure enantiomers from a synthetic racemic drug. However, the carrier-immobilized ENA5His suffered from poor stability in the presence of a high concentration of organic solvents needed to release the bound drug [95]. This means that simple carrier immobilization of ENA5His produces a workable but disposable separation matrix. The aim of the work with ENA5His was to stabilize the antibody molecule towards the harsh conditions used in the separation application and to develop a reusable immunoaffinity chromatography matrix by using CLPC technology. More specifically the aims were:

- To create crystallization and cross-linking procedures for the production of a sufficient amount of active crystalline ENAHis material for immunoaffinity studies
- To develop a reuseable immunoaffinity chromatography matrix for the separation of drug enantiomers

Xylose isomerase (XI) is a widely used enzyme in industry as a result of its ability to catalyze the isomerization of D-glucose to D-fructose. Previously it has been shown that XI accepts all of the pentose sugars and many hexose sugars as isomerization substrates [96, 97, 98]. The aim of this study was to use cross-linked XI crystals to improve the production process of D-fructose or other sugars. More specifically the aims were:

- To develop a crystallization process for the production of homogenous XI crystals of different size classes, which can be further used in cross-linked form for catalytic studies
- To study reactions catalyzed by XI for the production of sugars
- To investigate the possibility to use organic solvents in the sugar reactions catalyzed by cross-linked XI crystals to enhance the product yield

## **3** Materials and methods

The materials and methods used in this study are described in detail in the original publications I–V. Here only essential materials and methods are briefly described.

### 3.1 Antibody Fab fragment ENA5His

### 3.1.1 Purification of ENA5His [I]

The recombinant antibody Fab fragment ENA5His (molecular weight of 50.1 kD based on the amino acid sequence) was provided by VTT Biotechnology (Finland). The Histagged ENA5His was cloned and produced by *Escherichia coli* in a bioreactor as described by Nevanen *et al.* [95]. ENA5His was purified by metal-affinity chromatography. After a buffer change to 0.1 M Na-acetate buffer at pH 5.0, the purified Fab fragment was concentrated to 8 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> by ultrafiltration and used further for crystallization.

### 3.1.2 Crystallization and cross-linking of ENA5His [I]

Vapor diffusion crystallization experiments were set up in hanging drops by the standard procedure. Batch crystallization was first set up in 0.2 ml scale in 0.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and then in 10 ml scale in 15 ml plastic test tubes in conditions derived from the hanging drop experiments. The ENA5His crystals produced in the batch crystallization were cross-linked by incubation in 0.5% (w/v) glutaraldehyde for 30 min.

### 3.1.3 Preparation of native and cross-linked carrier-immobilized ENA5His [II]

Chelating Sepharose Fast Flow (Amersham-Pharmacia, Sweden) was loaded with copper ions to prepare Cu-IMAC carrier. Sedimented carrier was mixed with ENA5His solution and the mixture was incubated for 30 minutes with a gentle mixing at 20 °C. The slurry was packed in a small glass capillary with an inner diameter of 2.5 mm. Cross-linked carrier-immobilized ENA5His was prepared by adding 1 ml of 0.5% glutaraldehyde solution in to the column at room temperature. The column was washed with fresh PBS (phosphate buffered saline) before further use.

### 3.1.4 Drug racemate [I,II]

Finrozole, 4-[3-(4-fluorophenyl)-2-hydroxy-1-(1,2,4-triazol-1-yl)-propyl]benzonitrile (C<sub>18</sub>H<sub>15</sub>FN<sub>4</sub>O), was provided by Hormos Medical Corp. (Finland). The two drug enantiomers studied are designated here as **a** and **d**.

### 3.1.5 Immunoaffinity chromatography of the drug racemate [II]

The immunoaffinity columns containing CLAC matrix, carrier-immobilized ENA5His, or cross-linked carrier-immobilized ENA5His were equilibrated with 20 bed volumes of PBS. Drug racemate (4 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> in 100% DMSO) was diluted with 2% DMSO in PBS to the injection volume of 100  $\mu$ l prior to the application into the column. The unbound drug enantiomer was washed from the column by 2% DMSO in PBS. The bound drug enantiomer was eluted by 60% methanol in PBS. The columns were operated by gravity. The drug enantiomers were analyzed from the fractions by HPLC.

### 3.2 Xylose isomerase (XI)

### 3.2.1 Purification of XI [III, IV, V]

D-xylose isomerase (XI) produced by a strain of *Streptomyces rubiginosus* was a courtesy from Genencor International Inc. (Hanko plant, Finland). The enzyme was diafiltered by a hollow-fiber ultrafiltration (MWCO 50 kDa) to 100-fold dilution with distilled water. After diafiltration, XI was purified by 3- or 4-fold crystallization from 0.76 M ammonium sulfate at pH 7.2 as described previously [99].

### 3.2.2 Solubility of XI crystals [III]

Wet XI crystals were washed into the desired salt solution by repeated centrifugation– suspension cycles. The suspension containing XI crystals in a salt solution was incubated with a rocking mixer placed inside an incubator at a desired temperature. The soluble protein concentration was analyzed by measuring the absorbance of the liquid phase at 280 nm.

### 3.2.3 Crystallization of XI [III]

Small-scale crystallization experiments were made in plastic test tubes. XI crystals were dialyzed against fresh water to dissolve the protein crystals and to remove the ammonium sulfate used in the purification of the protein. The protein concentration was adjusted to 40 g  $\Gamma^1$  by adding water. A proper amount of a concentrated salt solution was added to a 4–8-ml aliquot of the protein solution to reach the desired final salt concentration. The solution was incubated with a rocking mixer placed inside an incubator at a desired temperature. The soluble protein concentration in the supernatant phase was analyzed measuring the absorbance of the liquid phase at 280 nm, and the presence of crystals was confirmed by light microscopy.

Large-scale cooling crystallization experiments were made in 0.1–4.0-liter volumes. The protein concentration was adjusted to 40 g  $l^{-1}$ . The XI solution was tempered to 28 °C in a water bath with impeller agitator using a stirring rate high enough for preventing sedimentation. Ammonium sulfate or magnesium sulfate was used for the crystallization. The temperature was lowered gradually to 4 °C.

Uniform XI crystals were produced by cooling crystallization from 0.17 M magnesium sulfate. An appropriate amount of seed crystals was added with a stirring rate high enough for preventing sedimentation. The crystallization was continued at 25 °C until the soluble protein concentration was no more decreasing. After this, the temperature was lowered gradually to 5 °C within 48 h to maintain small supersaturation in the solution for preventing spontaneous nucleation but enabling the seed crystal growth. Seed crystals were prepared by crushing XI crystals through mixing them vigorously with glass beads (d = 3 mm) for 2 h.

### 3.2.4 Cross-linking of XI crystals [V]

XI crystals were cross-linked by glutaraldehyde and L-lysine hydrochloride. Cross-linked XI crystals (CLXIC) were stored at 4 °C in water.

#### 3.2.5 *Measurement of initial reaction rates catalyzed by CLXIC (unpublished)*

The measurements were conducted in a 100 ml batch reactor equipped with impeller agitator. The stirring rate was 100 rpm to exclude external mass-transfer limitations. All reactions were carried out in substrate solution containing 360 g l<sup>-1</sup> D-fructose in Na-HEPES buffer (pH 7.5) supplemented with 20 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Adding about 50 mg of cross-linked XI crystals (CLXIC) to 50 ml of substrate solution initiated the isomerization reaction of D-fructose to D-glucose. The exact amount of the enzyme added to the reactor was measured afterwards. Samples of 1 ml were taken intermittently from the reaction mixture. The D-glucose concentration of the samples was measured by an enzymatic analyzer YSI 2700 (YSI Instruments, USA). Measurements were made at temperatures of 40 °C, 50 °C, 60 °C, and 67 °C. After the reaction, CLXIC was filtered from the reaction mixture and washed several times with reverse osmosis treated water. After vacuum drying for 24 h at 20 °C the crystal samples were weighed. The initial reaction rate (mol<sub>glu</sub>  $g_{CLXIC}^{-1}$  s<sup>-1</sup>) of D-fructose isomerization to D-glucose was calculated from samples where the conversion of the substrate was less than 5%. The initial reaction rates were measured for CLXIC of different size classes. All measurements were run in duplicates.

The effective diffusivity of the isomerization reaction,  $D_e$ , was estimated from the experimental results assuming first-order kinetics. Thiele modulus,  $\Phi$ , is given by:

$$\Phi = R_{\sqrt{\frac{r_{ideal}\rho_c}{D_eC}}}$$
(1)

in which *R* is the radius of a spherical catalyst pellet,  $r_{ideal}$  is the ideal reaction rate obtained when mass transfer limitations can be excluded (moles product per mass of catalyst),  $\rho_c$  is the density of catalyst (1160 g 1<sup>-1</sup> for CLXIC) [39], and *C* is the concentration of the substrate (2 mol 1<sup>-1</sup>). XI crystal shape is polyhedral and, thus, very close to spherical.

The value of Thiele modulus can be calculated from the internal effectiveness factor,  $\eta$ , which is given for spherical catalyst pellets and first-order kinetics by:

$$\eta = \frac{r_{actual}}{r_{ideal}} = \frac{3}{\Phi} (\Phi \coth \Phi - 1)$$
(2)

in which  $r_{actual}$  is the actual reaction rate.

#### 3.2.6 C-2 epimerization reactions catalyzed by XI [IV]

The reactions were carried out at 25–60  $^{\circ}$ C in 50 mM maleate buffer containing 20 mM MgSO<sub>4</sub> at pH 7.2. Unless otherwise stated, substrate concentration in the reactions was 5 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> and soluble XI concentration was 1 mg ml<sup>-1</sup>. Adding the enzyme solution to the tempered substrate solution started the reaction. Adding 1 M sulphuric acid to lower the pH below 2 stopped the reaction. Some reactions were done with cross-linked XI crystals (CLXIC) packed in a 1.6 cm × 38 cm column. Sugar compositions were measured by HPLC.

### 3.2.7 XI catalysis in the presence of organic solvents [V]

All the enzyme reactions were conducted in a 25 ml batch reactor equipped with impeller agitator. The reactions were carried out in a 50 mM maleate buffer (pH 7.2) containing 4 mM  $Mg^{2+}$  or in a mixture of buffer solution and acetone or ethanol. The enzyme concentration was approximately 3 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> and the exact amount of the enzyme was measured afterwards. The sugar composition of the samples was measured by GC. The initial rates of glucose isomerization ( $g_{fru} g_{CLXIC}^{-1} min^{-1}$ ) were determined from samples where the conversion of the starting sugar glucose was below 5%.

The deactivation of XI was measured as follows. First XI was incubated in aqueous ethanol or acetone supplemented with 50 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> D-glucose. After incubation for 24 h, XI was separated from the incubation medium by filtration (CLXIC) or by ultrafiltration (soluble XI) and washed with a fresh maleate buffer solution. Then the initial rate of isomerization with the washed enzyme was measured in pure aqueous maleate buffer containing 50 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> D-glucose as the substrate. The sugar composition of the samples was measured by GC.

## 4 **Results and discussion**

### 4.1 Model system for bioseparation applications

### 4.1.1 Crystallization of antibody fragment ENA5His [I]

A preliminary screening of crystallization conditions for ENA5His was conducted employing hanging drop vapor diffusion experiments. After optimization good crystallization behavior was obtained in hanging drops containing 20–28% PEG 3350 with 0.1–0.6 M KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> or NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> at 5 °C and 20 °C. Figure 3a shows typical ENA5His crystals obtained in hanging drops. Harris *et al.* [100] were the first to describe the use of PEG 3350 in low ionic strength conditions for the crystallization of intact antibodies. Since then PEG 3350 has been used successfully in numerous crystallizations of antibodies and their fragments and, thus, it seems to be an especially useful crystallization agent for antibodies. Also in this work PEG 3350 proved to be the only precipitant producing ENA5His crystals. All the other precipitants including PEGs with molecular weights of 600, 4000, 6000, and 12000 failed to crystallize ENA5His.

Once the conditions leading to good crystallization were identified by the hanging drop method, the crystallization was transferred to larger scale batch crystallization. A 10 ml crystallization batch containing 3.5 mg ml<sup>-1</sup> protein, 20% PEG 3350 and 0.2 M NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> at pH 4.7 and 20 °C produced 25 mg of ENA5His crystals with a 70% yield. Figure 3b shows typical ENA5His crystals obtained in batch crystallization. Most of the crystals were relatively large being >50  $\mu$ m in the smallest dimension but also small crystals and crystal fragments were present. The results obtained here together with the results of Lee *et al.* [101] show that a batch crystallization procedure can be relatively easily developed and scaled up based on crystallization conditions found by routinely used microdiffusion methods. Batch crystallization is the only realistic method for the production of protein crystallization were cross-linked by the most commonly used protein cross-linking agent, glutaraldehyde. The resulting cross-linked antibody fragment crystals (CLAC) were insoluble in all the solutions that were used in the drug enantiomer separation application. This is a pre-requisite for the use of protein crystals in applications.



**Figure 3.** Crystals of an antibody Fab fragment ENA5His obtained a) by hanging drop method and b) in batch crystallization.

### 4.1.2 Chiral separation of drug racemates by re-usable ENA5His columns [II]

Immunoaffinity columns packed with cross-linked ENA5His crystals (CLAC) separated pure drug enantiomers from the racemic mixture. However, the large particle size of intact CLAC crystals (about  $50 \times 100 \times 300 \ \mu\text{m}^3$ ) resulted in ineffective separation of the drug enantiomers probably as a result of mass-transfer limitations (publication [II], Figure 2). To enhance mass transfer, CLAC was crushed with glass beads to a size of about  $1 \times 5 \times 20 \ \mu\text{m}^3$  or smaller. The crushing of CLAC considerably enhanced the separation of drug enantiomers. Figure 4 shows a typical drug separation chromatogram obtained with crushed CLAC. The drug **d**-enantiomer binding capacity was 2.3  $\mu$ g per 1 mg of crushed CLAC, which is about 35% of the theoretical binding capacity based on 1:1 molar binding ratio. With carrier-immobilized ENA5His, the binding capacity corresponded to 70% of the theoretical binding capacity.

Reduced enzyme activities of cross-linked enzyme crystals have been frequently reported in the literature. The reduced activities are usually explained either by mass-transfer limitations inside the crystals or by the reaction between the protein and the cross-linking reagent, which limits the flexibility of protein molecule [15]. In this case, mass-transfer limitations fail to explain the reduced binding capacity of CLAC, as the mass-transfer limitations were seen as prolonged binding and elution times when big crystals were used. The high specific binding activity of the cross-linked carrier-immobilized ENA5His column showed that the reaction between the immobilized antibody and glutaraldehyde did not reduce the binding capacity (publication [II], Table 1). One reasonable hypothesis for the reduced binding activity of CLAC is that the extreme closeness of the protein molecules in the crystalline structures could easily lead to steric hindrances keeping a certain amount of binding sites not available for substrate binding. However, the reason for the reduced binding capacity of CLAC remained unknown. CLAC was resistant to the denaturing effect of methanol. During and after 25 bindingelution (with 60% methanol) cycles the binding capacity and elution profiles of an immunoaffinity CLAC column were unchanged. The improved protein stability obtained by the use of cross-linked protein crystal technology has been explained by the crystallinity of the material, the chemical modification of the protein, or a combination of both [15].



**Figure 4.** Typical chiral separation chromatogram of a drug racemate by an immunoaffinity column packed with crushed CLAC. About 13 mg of crushed CLAC was packed in the column; 50  $\mu$ g of drug racemate was injected to the column; the bound drug was eluted from the column by changing the eluent to 60% methanol.

Because of the outstanding stability of the CLAC column, the role of cross-linking in the stabilization of ENA5His was studied in more detail with carrier-immobilized ENA5His, which was glutaraldehyde cross-linked. Glutaraldehyde cross-linking stabilized also immobilized ENA5His. After five times repeated enantioseparation cycles no loss in the drug binding capacity was observed. This result shows that glutaraldehyde cross-linking alone was enough to stabilize the ENA5His molecule against 60% methanol needed in the elution of the antibody bound drug. The glutaraldehyde cross-linking had no effect on the maximal **d**-enantiomer binding capacity, which was statistically identical to the value measured with native immobilized ENA5His (publication [II], Table 1). Simple glutaraldehyde cross-linking of carrier-immobilized ENA5His produced a highly stable and active protein matrix capable of producing pure enantiomers of the chiral drug.

#### 4.2 Model system for biocatalytic applications

#### 4.2.1 Solubility and crystallization of XI [III]

XI crystal solubility in ammonium sulfate solution followed the traditional salting-out behavior. The solubility decreased logarithmically when increasing the ionic strength in the solution (Figure 5a). Surprisingly, in a magnesium sulfate solution XI crystals had a solubility minimum at approximately 0.17 M MgSO<sub>4</sub> (Figure 5b). The reason for the specific effect of Mg<sup>2+</sup> is not known. The effect of cations on protein solubility has been considered to be small compared with the effect of anions [102, 103, 104]. However, recently Bénas *et al.* [105] showed that also cations have an important role in the solubility of lysozyme.



Figure 5. Solubility of XI crystals in a) ammonium sulfate solution, b) magnesium sulfate solution.

XI crystal solubility in both ammonium sulfate and magnesium sulfate increased logarithmically when increasing the temperature (publication [III], Figure 3). The strong temperature dependency of the solubility of the XI suggested that XI could be crystallized effectively by simple cooling crystallization. Indeed, XI was crystallized from concentrated ammonium sulfate solution and from 0.17 M magnesium salt solutions using cooling crystallization. The crystalline protein yield in the cooling crystallizations was very high, always over 95%. Magnesium sulfate was chosen for further crystallization optimization since ammonium sulfate must be used in large amounts compared to the amount of magnesium sulfate.

#### 4.2.2 Preparation of uniform XI crystals (III)

The crystals produced by spontaneous nucleation resulted in heterogeneous crystal sizes of  $5-150 \mu m$  even if a very gentle temperature gradient was used. However, the control of the size and shape of enzyme crystals is critical to their application as catalysts [15, 23]. Large uniform crystals are needed for catalytic applications and small uniform crystals for analytical/chromatographic applications [15]. A well-known method for the production of uniform crystals of small molecular weight compounds is the use of seed crystals in crystallization. However, no reports of such a technique being used in large-scale batch crystallization of proteins are available in the literature.

On the basis of the solubility study, we were able to develop a simple and reproducible procedure to prepare homogeneous XI crystals. The preparation of uniform XI crystals was based on cooling crystallization from 0.17 M MgSO<sub>4</sub>. At 28 °C no spontaneous nucleation occurred in a 40 g l<sup>-1</sup> XI solution supplemented with 0.17 M MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Seed crystals were added to this solution to initiate the crystallization process. The temperature of the crystallization was then lowered gradually to 5 °C within 48 h. During this time the seed crystals were grown to their final size. The crystalline protein yield was typically 95–98%. As expected, the final crystal size was bigger when the amount of seeds was decreased. Figure 6 shows XI crystals of different sizes prepared by using crushed crystals as seeds.

XI crystals were further cross-linked by glutaraldehyde and L-lysine for catalytic studies. The use of L-lysine was obligatory in obtaining insoluble crystals. When the crosslinking was made by glutaraldehyde alone, the crystals completely dissolved in water within 30 min at 60 °C. Cross-linked XI crystals (CLXIC) were insoluble apart from strong alkaline conditions. CLXIC dissolved in 0.1 M NaOH within 24 h at 30 °C. Previously it has been shown that CLXIC is more thermostable in the presence of substrate than the soluble protein [57].



Figure 6. Uniform XI crystals produced by seeding crystallization from 0.17 MgSO<sub>4</sub>. Note that the crystals are in the same scale.

### 4.2.3 Intracrystalline mass-transfer limitations (unpublished)

The initial D-fructose isomerization rate catalyzed by cross-linked XI crystals (CLXIC) of different crystal sizes was measured in order to study the effect of crystal size on the actual activity of CLXIC. Figure 7 shows that the actual activity of CLXIC decreased when increasing the crystal size. The reason for this is clearly the mass-transfer limitations inside the crystals. The activity of the smallest crystals having a particle size of <1  $\mu$ m was even higher than the corresponding activity of the soluble enzyme. This result shows that the mass-transfer limitations can be excluded when these crystals are used. These results indicate that it would be reasonable to use the smallest crystals in applications in order to obtain maximal enzyme activity. However, small crystals are difficult to handle in practice. The removal of small particles is difficult from the reaction mixture, for example. However, from Figure 7 it can be seen that relatively high activities are obtained also with big crystals suitable for use in practical applications.

The effective diffusivity of the isomerization reaction calculated from experimental data was in the range of  $(0.5-1.2)\times10^{-11}$  m<sup>2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. This value was independent of the reaction temperature (40–67°C). The value of effective diffusivity is only estimation, as the assumption of first-order kinetics is inaccurate when high substrate concentrations are used. The reaction rate measurements were made at a high substrate concentration in order to discover the values of the overall effectiveness factor for different catalyst particle sizes in conditions close to those found in real processes. The calculated effective diffusivity was two orders of magnitude lower than the diffusivity of D-glucose or D-fructose (molecular weight 180 g mol<sup>-1</sup>) in water at 25 °C [106]. The value of effective diffusivities of fluorescent surfactants (molecular weight 246–316 g mol<sup>-1</sup>) inside tetragonal lysozyme crystals were 3–4 orders of magnitude lower compared with the diffusivities of corresponding free molecules in water [44]. The values of diffusivities were measured by following the penetration of light-emitting surfactants into the pores of lysozyme crystals. Morozova *et al.* [40] calculated that the mobility of cations was 4–50

fold lower and the mobility of anions 100–300 fold lower in the tetragonal lysozyme crystals compared with their mobility in solution. The calculation was based on the experimentally determined crystal conductivity and transference number of ions.



Figure 7. Relative activity of CLXIC decreases when increasing the crystal size.

### 4.2.4 XI catalyzes a C-2 epimerization of sugars (IV)

The reactions catalyzed by XI have been studied extensively. In addition to an isomerization, it has been observed that also a C-2 epimerization occurs with some pentose and hexose substrates [97]. Nevertheless, in the most extensively studied isomerization of D-glucose to D-fructose, formation of the C-2 epimer (D-mannose) has not been observed previously. However, while studying D-glucose isomerization to D-fructose catalyzed by a packed bed reactor containing CLXIC as the catalyst, in addition to D-fructose also D-mannose was detected from the out coming stream. This was a result of the extremely high enzyme to substrate ratio of the CLXIC column, which enables the detection of weak activities [68]. The finding of D-mannose, which is a C-2 epimer of D-glucose, led to a more detailed study of the C-2 epimerization catalyzed by XI. Both D-and L-forms of tetrose (erythrose, erythrulose, threose), pentose (arabinose, ribulose, ribulose, and hexose (glucose, fructose, mannose) sugars were chosen as the substrates.

The C-2 epimer formation rate was highest with tetroses and lowest with hexoses. Lengthening the sugar carbon chain decreased the C-2 epimer formation rate roughly by one order of magnitude per one carbon atom. The C-2 epimer formation from D-mannose is an exception to this rule as a result of the fast isomerization rate between D-fructose (an isomer) and D-glucose (a C-2 epimer). The results of this study show that the real equilibrium in XI catalysed reactions is not between two isomers but between a ketose and its two aldose isomers.

#### 4.2.5 Acetone enhances CLXIC catalyzed D-glucose isomerization to D-fructose (V)

Immobilized XI is used industrially for the conversion of D-glucose to D-fructose. At equilibrium at 60 °C, the isomerization reaction mixture contains 51% D-fructose and 49% D-glucose [107]. The thermodynamic equilibrium of the reaction favors D-fructose at high temperatures. In high fructose syrups used to sweeten soft drinks, for example, a D-fructose content of 55% is preferred to achieve the same sweetening effect as with sucrose and to prevent the crystallization of D-glucose [108]. However, the production of

a 55% D-fructose solution would require a continuous operation at 85–100 °C, which is too high a temperature for even the most thermostable XIs [109]. It has been shown previously that the addition of high concentration of ethanol favors the production of D-fructose [110, 111]. However, as a result of the low productivity and poor stability of XI in the presence of ethanol, the use of ethanol was not applicable to real processes.

The stability of CLXIC was studied in the presence of ethanol and acetone. After a 24-h treatment in 50% ethanol only 2% of the isomerase activity was retained. At the same conditions the soluble enzyme lost its activity totally. However, the 24-h treatment decreased the activity of CLXIC only by 20–30% in solutions containing 10–90% acetone (publication [V], Figure 1). Surprisingly, acetone seems to have only a minor role in the inactivation of cross-linked crystals. The soluble enzyme was much more sensitive to acetone. In 50% acetone the activity of the soluble enzyme decreased by 75%. This result shows that XI cannot be used in high ethanol concentration at relevant isomerization temperature. By contrast, XI in the form of CLXIC was stable even at very high acetone concentrations.

Figure 8 shows the initial D-glucose isomerization rates in pure aqueous solvent, 50% ethanol, and 50% acetone containing maleate buffer at different reaction temperatures when CLXIC was used as the catalyst. The reaction rate in 50% ethanol was similar to that in pure aqueous solvent, except at the highest temperature (50 °C) measured, where the reaction rate was clearly smaller in ethanol containing solvent as a result of the inactivation of CLXIC. In 50% acetone the reaction rate was more than doubled compared with the rate in pure aqueous solvent at all temperatures. A higher temperature could not be used, as the boiling point of acetone is 56.5 °C at atmospheric pressure. Excluding the highest temperature with ethanol the activation energy of  $59\pm2$  kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> for the isomerization reaction can be calculated from the slopes in Figure 8. The activation energy is not affected by the addition of organic solvents. This shows that the addition of organic solvent does not have an effect on the active site of XI.



Figure 8. Initial rate of D-glucose isomerization catalyzed by 65  $\mu$ m CLXIC in pure buffer solvent, in 50% ethanol and in 50% acetone as a function of temperature.

The actual enzyme activity of CLXIC increased in a linear manner when the acetone content in the reaction mixture was increased at 50 °C as seen in Figure 9. The initial D-fructose production rate was more than doubled when high concentrations of acetone

were used. A higher concentration than 70% acetone could not be used as a result of the low solubility of D-glucose. No similar effect with ethanol was observed, as the initial D-fructose production rate was lower than the rate in buffer solution. The increased activity of CLXIC can be partly explained by a shift in the concentration of the  $\alpha$ -pyranose form of D-glucose present in the solution. In water, about 39% of the soluble D-glucose is present as  $\alpha$ -pyranose. However, the  $\alpha$ -pyranose content increased exponentially when the acetone content was increased (publication [V], Figure 3). In 90% acetone, the  $\alpha$ -pyranose content was 46%. The active center of XI accepts only  $\alpha$ -pyranose form of D-glucose as the substrate [112]. Lee and Hong [113] measured a 43% increased initial isomerization rate with pure  $\alpha$ -D-glucose compared with buffer equilibrated glucose. Thus, the difference in the glucose composition accounts for the increased reaction rate only partly.

The addition of acetone to the isomerization reaction mixture increased the concentration of D-fructose at the equilibrium in an exponential manner (publication [V], Figure 2). At equilibrium at 50 °C in buffer solution the reaction mixture contained 49±1% D-fructose. However, in 90% acetone the equilibrium D-fructose concentration was  $63\pm1\%$ . The reason for this increase may be the increase of the  $\alpha$ -pyranose form of D-glucose in acetone solutions.

As a conclusion CLXIC is stable even in high acetone concentrations. The use of a high concentration of acetone in the isomerization of D-glucose to D-fructose was beneficial in two ways, by increasing the reaction rate and the product yield. However, D-glucose is poorly soluble in acetone and, thus, high acetone concentrations (>70%) cannot be used in practical applications.



Figure 9. The effect of the acetone concentration on the initial rate of glucose isomerization at 50 °C.

## **5** Conclusions

Protein crystallization is widely considered troublesome because of the often assumed unpredictability and irreproducibility of crystallization. However, the data presented in this thesis show that protein crystallization procedures can be developed systematically. The starting point for the crystallization development for xylose isomerase and the antibody Fab fragment ENA5His was quite different. Xylose isomerase is a widely used enzyme that was available in kilogram quantities for the development of crystallization, crystal cross-linking, and biocatalytic applications. The crystallization process development for xylose isomerase was based on a systematic solubility study. Based on the results of the solubility study, a crystallization procedure yielding homogeneous xylose isomerase crystals with a high crystal yield was developed.

The antibody Fab fragment ENA5His was only produced for research purposes in milligram scale. Thus, crystallization conditions had to be screened by using small-scale vapor diffusion experiments consuming only small amounts of ENA5His. The initial crystallization conditions found were analogous to conditions previously reported to be especially suitable for antibodies. The scale-up of the crystallization of ENA5His employing batch crystallization was straightforward.

The results showed that the common cross-linking agent, glutaraldehyde, worked well in practice. ENA5His crystals became insoluble after glutaraldehyde treatment. However, the addition of L-lysine to the glutaraldehyde cross-linking reaction mixture was needed to obtain an insoluble form of cross-linked XI crystals.

The cross-linking increased the stabilities of ENA5His and XI towards the denaturing effects of organic solvents. The improved stability enabled the use of both studied proteins effectively in applications, where high concentrations of organic solvents were needed.

Crystallization and cross-linking affected the activity of the protein samples. When the mass transfer limitation was excluded by studying the activity of small crushed XI crystals, the specific activity of XI remained at the same level compared with the activity of soluble XI. However, when bigger XI crystals were used the activity decreased as a result of intracrystalline mass transfer limitations. Also cross-linked crystals of ENA5His suffered from mass transfer limitations. Decreasing the crystal size by crushing decreased the effects of the mass transfer limitations. However, crystallization and cross-linking decreased the specific drug binding activity of ENA5His by about 50% compared with carrier immobilized ENA5His.

As a result of the stability and high activity of cross-linked XI crystals new reactions catalyzed by XI were found. Furthermore, the increased stability of the cross-linked crystalline form enabled addition of acetone to XI catalyzed D-fructose production from D-glucose, which increased the reaction rate and the product yield.

The increased stability of ENA5His in cross-linked crystalline form enabled the reuse of ENA5His in the drug racemate separation application. The results of this thesis show that the source of the increased stability was the chemical cross-linking by glutaraldehyde shown by the high stability of cross-linked immobilized ENA5His column. Cross-linking of immobilized protein column is a simple and economic process and, thus, very attractive way to increase the stability of proteins.

The results of this thesis together with the results obtained previously show that crosslinked protein crystal technology can improve the applicability of proteins. Especially, the regularly increased stability may open new applications for proteins using crosslinked protein crystal technology. Moreover, the results show that cross-linked protein crystal materials can be designed systematically. Still, a future challenge is to apply the cross-linked protein crystal technology to commercial applications.

## References

- 1. Lalonde, J. Practical catalysis with enzyme crystals. *Chemtech.* 27 (1997) 38–45.
- 2. Häring, D.; Schreier, P. Cross-linked enzyme crystals. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* 3 (1999) 35–38.
- Some examples: Parida, S.; Dordick, J.S. Substrate structure and solvent hydrophobicity control lipase catalysis and enantioselectivity in organic media. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 113 (1991) 2253–2259. Therisod, M.; Klibanov, A.M. Regioselective acylation of secondary hydroxyl groups in sugars catalyzed by lipases in organic solvents. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 109 (1987) 3977–3981. Gutman, A.L.; Shapira, M.; Boltanski, A. Enzyme-catalyzed formation of chiral monosubstituted mixed diesters and half esters of malonic acid in organic solvents. J. Org. Chem. 57 (1991) 1063–1065.
- 4. Quiocho, F.A.; Richards, F.M. Intermolecular cross linking of a protein in the crystalline state: carboxypeptidase-A. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **52** (1964) 833–839.
- 5. Quiocho, F.A.; Richards, F.M. The enzymatic behavior of carboxypeptidase-A in the solid state, *Biochemistry* **5** (1966) 4062–4076.
- 6. Ducruix, A. (Ed.); Giegé, R. (Ed.) *Crystallization of nucleic acids and proteins: a practical approach*. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Oxford University Press, UK, 1999.
- 7. Bergfors, T. (Ed.) *Protein crystallization: techniques, strategies, and tips.* International University Line, USA, 1999.
- 8. Berman, H.M.; Westbrook, J.; Feng, Z.; Gilliland, G.; Bhat, T.N.; Weissig, H.; Shindyalov, I.N.; Bourne, P.E. The protein data bank. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **28** (2000) 235–242. See also the home page of the Protein Data Bank, http://www.rcsb.org/pdb/.
- 9. Visuri, K. Stable glucose isomerase concentrate and a process for the preparation thereof. *US Patent* 4699882, 1987.
- 10. Nilsson, B.M.; Laustsen, M.A.; Rancke-Madsen, A. Separation of proteins. US *Patent* 5728559, 1998.
- 11. Gros, E.H.; Cunefare, J.L. Crystalline protease and method for producing same, US Patent 6207437, 2001.
- 12. Hancock, B.C.; Zografi, G. Characteristics and significance of the amorphous state in pharmaceutical systems. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **86** (1997) 1–12.
- 13. Thayer, A.M. Biopharmaceutical earnings weaken. *Chem. Eng. News* **81** (2003) 15–15.
- 14. Jen, A.; Merkle, H.P. Diamonds in the rough: protein crystals from a formulation perspective. *Pharm. Res.* **18** (2001) 1483–1488.
- 15. Margolin, A.L.; Navia, M.A. Protein crystals as novel catalytic materials. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **40** (2001) 2204–2222.
- 16. Ferrier, L.K.; Richardson, T.; Olson, N.F. Crystalline catalase insolubilized with glutaraldehyde. *Enzymologia* **42** (1971) 273–283.

- 17. Persichetti, R.A.; St. Clair, N.L.; Griffith, J.P.; Navia, M.A.; Margolin, A.L. Cross-linked enzyme crystals (CLECs) of thermolysin in the synthesis of peptides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **117** (1995) 2732–2737.
- 18. Tüchsen, E.; Ottesen, M. Kinetic properties of subtilisin type Carlsberg in the crystalline state. *Carlsberg Res. Commun.* **42** (1977) 407–420.
- 19. Ayala, M., Horjales, E.; Pickard, M.A.; Vazquez-Duhalt, R. Cross-linked crystals of chloroperoxidase. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Com.* **295** (2002) 828–831.
- Yonath, A.; Sielecki, J.M.; Moult, J.; Podjarny, A.; Traub, W. Crystallographic studies of protein denaturation and renaturation. 1. Effects of denaturants on volume and X-ray pattern of cross-linked triclinic lysozyme crystals. *Biochemistry* 16 (1977) 1413–1417.
- 21. Fitzpatrick, P.A.; Steinmetz, A.C.U.; Ringe, D.; Klibanov, A.M. Enzyme crystal structure in neat organic solvent. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **90** (1993) 8653–8657.
- 22. Lusty, C.J. A gentle vapor-diffusion technique for cross-linking of protein crystals for crystallography. J. Appl. Cryst. **32** (1999) 106–112.
- 23. Vaghjiani, J.D.; Lee, T.S.; Lye, G.J.; Turner, M.K. Production and characterisation of cross-linked enzyme crystals (CLECs<sup>®</sup>) for application as process scale biocatalysts. *Biocatal. Biotransform.* **18** (2000) 151–175.
- 24. Monsan, P.; Puzo, G.; Mazarguil, H. Etude de mechanisme d'etablissement des liasions glutaraldehyde proteins. *Biochimie* **57** (1975) 1281–1292.
- 25. Hardy, P.M.; Nicholls, A.C.; Rydon, H.N. The nature of glutaraldehyde in aqueous solution. *Chem. Commun.* (1969) 565–566.
- Hardy, P.M.; Nicholls, A.C.; Rydon, H.N. The nature of cross-linking of proteins by glutaraldehyde. Part 1. Interaction of glutaraldehyde with the amino groups of 6-aminohexanoic acid and α-N-acetyl-lysine. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 (1976) 958–962.
- 27. Tashima, T.; Imai, M. Structure of a new oligomer of glutaraldehyde produced by aldol condensation reaction. *J. Org. Chem.* **56** (1991) 694–697.
- 28. Cordes, E.H.; Jencks, W.P. On the mechanism of Shiff base formation and hydrolysis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 84 (1962) 832–837.
- 29. Richards, F.M.; Knowles, J.R. Glutaraldehyde as a protein cross-linking agent. J. *Mol. Biol.* **37** (1967) 231–233.
- 30. Wong, S.S. Chemistry of protein conjugation and cross-linking, CRC Press, USA, 1993.
- 31. Visuri, K. Preparation of cross-linked glucose isomerase crystals. US Patent 5437993, 1995.
- 32. Peters, K.; Richards, F.M. Chemical cross-linking: reagents and problems in studies of membrane structure. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* **46** (1977) 523–551.
- 33. Margolin, A.L.; Persichetti. R.A.; St. Clair, N.L.; Khalaf, N.K. Controlled dissolution cross-linked protein crystals. *US Patent* 6140475, 2000.
- 34. Margolin, A.L.; Govardhan, C.P.; Visuri, K.J.; Uotila, S.S. Carbohydrate crosslinked glycoprotein crystals. *International patent application WO 99/12959*, 1999.

- 35. Matthews, B.W. Solvent content of protein crystals. J. Mol. Biol. 33 (1968) 491–497.
- 36. Vilenchik, L.Z.; Griffith, J.P.; St. Clair, N.; Navia, M.A.; Margolin, A.L. Protein crystals as novel microporous materials. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **120** (1998) 4290–4294.
- Carter, D.C.; Chang, B.; Xo, J.X.; Keeling, K.; Krishnasami, Z. Preliminary crystallographic studies of four crystal forms of serum albumin. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 226 (1994) 1049–1052.
- Morozov, V.N.; Kachalova, G.S.; Evtodienko, V.U.; Lanina, N.F.; Morozova, T.Y. Permeability of lysozyme tetragonal crystals to water. *Eur. Biophys. J.* 24 (1995) 93–95.
- 39. Pastinen, O.; Jokela, J.; Eerikäinen, T.; Schwabe, T.; Leisola, M. Cross-linked glucose isomerase crystals as a liquid chromatographic separation material. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **26** (2000) 550–558.
- 40. Morozova, T.Y.; Kachalova, G.S.; Lanina, N.F.; Evtodienko, V.U.; Botin, A.S.; Shlyapnikova, E.A.; Morozov, V.N. Ionic conductivity, transference numbers, composition and mobility of ions in cross-linked lysozyme crystals. *Biophys. Chem.* **60** (1996) 1–16.
- 41. Finell, J.; Jokela, J.; Leisola, M.; Riekkola, M.-L. Total hydrolysis of xylotetraose and xylobiose by soluble and cross-linked crystalline xylanase II from *Trichoderma reesei. Biocatal. Biotransform.* **20** (2002) 281–290.
- 42. Törrönen, A.; Rouvinen, J. Structural comparison of two major endo-1,4xylanases from *Thrichoderma reesei*. *Biochemistry* **34** (1995) 847–856.
- 43. Spilburg, C.A.; Bethune, J.L.; Vallee, B.L. Kinetic properties of crystalline enzymes. Carboxypeptidase A. *Biochemistry* **16** (1977) 1142–1149.
- 44. Velev, O.D.; Kaler, E.W.; Lenhoff, A.M. Surfactant diffusion into lysozyme crystal matrices investigated by quantitative fluorescence microscopy. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **104** (2000) 9267–9275.
- 45. Alter, G.M.; Leussing, D.L.; Neurath, H.; Vallee, B.L. Kinetic properties carboxypeptidase B in solutions and crystals. *Biochemistry* **16** (1977) 3663–3668.
- 46. Pepin, P.; Lortie, R. Influence of water activity on the enantioselective esterification of (R,S)-ibuprofen by crosslinked crystals of *Candida Antarctica* lipase B in organic solvent media. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **75** (2001) 559–562.
- 47. Lalonde, J.J.; Govardhan, C.; Khalaf, N.; Martinez, A.G.; Visuri, K.; Margolin, A.L. Cross-linked crystals of *Candida rugosa* lipase: highly efficient catalysts for the resolution of chiral esters. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **117** (1995) 6845–6852.
- 48. St. Clair, N.L.; Navia, M.A. Cross-linked enzyme crystals as robust biocatalysts. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* (1992) 7314–7316.
- 49. Sobolov, S.B.; Bartoszko-Malik, A.; Oeschger, T.R.; Montelbano, M.M. Crosslinked enzyme crystals of fructose diphosphate aldolase: development as a biocatalyst sythesis. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **35** (1994) 7751–7754.
- 50. Sobolov, S.B.; Leabida, M.D.; Bartoszko-Malik, A.; Voivodov, K.I.; McKinney, F.; Kim, J.; Fry, A.J. Cross-linked LDH crystals for lactate synthesis coupled to electroenzymatic regeneration of NADH. *J. Org. Chem.* **61** (1996) 2125–2128.

- 51. Mozzarelli, A.; Rossi, G.L. Protein function in the crystal. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 25 (1996) 343–365.
- 52. Costes, D.; Wehtje, E.; Adlercreutz, P. Cross-linked crystals of hydroxynitrile lyase as catalyst for the synthesis of optically active cyanohydrins. *J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym.* **11** (2001) 607–612.
- Grochulski, P.; Li, Y.; Schrag, J.D.; Bouthillier, F.; Smith, P.; Harrison, D.; Rubin, B.; Cygler, M. Insights into interfacial activation from an open structure of *Candida rugosa* lipase. J. Biol. Chem. 268 (1993) 12843–12847.
- 54. Grochulski, P.; Li, Y.; Schrag, J.D.; Cygler, M. Two conformational states of *Candida rugosa* lipase. *Prot. Sci.* **3** (1994) 82–91.
- 55. Wang, Y.-F.; Yakovlevsky, K.; Zhang, B.; Margolin, A.L. Cross-linked crystals of subtilisin: versatile catalyst for organic synthesis. *J. Org. Chem.* **62** (1997) 3488–3495.
- 56. St. Clair, N.L.; Wang, Y.-F; Margolin, A.L. Cofactor-bound cross-linked enzyme crystals (CLEC) of alcohol dehydrogenase. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **39** (2000) 380–383.
- Visuri, K.; Pastinen, O.; Wu, X.; Mäkinen, K.; Leisola, M. Stability of native and cross-linked crystalline glucose isomerase. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 64 (1999) 377– 380.
- Noritomi, H.; Koyama, K.; Kato, S.; Nagahama, K. Increased thermostability of cross-linked enzyme crystals of subtilisin in organic solvents. *Biotechnol. Tech.* 12 (1998) 467–469.
- 59. Lee, T.S.; Turner, M.K.; Lye, G.J. Mechanical stability of immobilized biocatalysts (CLECs) in dilute agitated solutions. *Biotechnol. Prog.* **18** (2002) 43–50.
- 60. Collins, A.M.; Maslin, C.; Davies, R.J. Scale-up of a chiral resolution using cross-linked enzyme crystals. *Org. Proc. Res. Dev.* **2** (1998) 400–406.
- 61. Fontes, N.; Almoida, M.C.; Garcia; S.; Peres, C.; Partridge, J.; Halling, P.J.; Barreiros, S. Supercritical fluids are superior media for catalysis by cross-linked enzyme microcrystals of subtilisin Carlsberg. *Biotechnol. Prog.* **17** (2001) 355–358.
- Fontes, N.; Partridge, J.; Halling, P.J.; Barreiros, S. Zeolite molecular sieves have dramatic acid-base effects on enzymes in nonaqueous media. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 77 (2002) 296–305.
- 63. Harper, N.; Barreiros, S. Enhancement of enzyme activity in supercritical carbon dioxide via changes in acid-base conditions. *Biotechnol. Prog.* **18** (2002) 1451–1454.
- 64. Fontes, N.; Harper, N.; Halling, P.J.; Barreiros, S. Salt hydrates for *in situ* water activity control have acid-base effects on enzymes in nonaqueous media. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 82 (2003) 802–808.
- 65. Persichetti, R.A.; Lalonde, J.J.; Govardhan, C.P.; Khalaf, N.K.; Margolin, A.L. *Candida rugosa* lipase: enantioselectivity enhancements in organic solvents. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **37** (1996) 6507–6510.

- 66. Browne, J.K.; McKervey, M.A.; Pitarch, M.; Russell, J.A. Enzymatic synthesis of nonracemic inherently chiral calix[4]arenes by lipase-catalysed transesterification. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **39** (1998) 1787–1790.
- 67. Mitchell, R.E.; Coddington, J.M.; Young, H. A revised structure for tagetitoxin. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **30** (1989) 501–504.
- Leisola, M., Jokela, J., Finell, J., Pastinen, O., Simultaneous catalysis and product separation by cross-linked enzyme crystals, *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 72 (2001) 501– 505.
- 69. Jokela, J.; Pastinen, O.; Leisola, M. Isomerization of pentose and hexose sugars by an enzyme reactor packed with cross-linked xylose isomerase crystals. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **31** (2002) 67–76.
- 70. Wong, C.-H.; Whitesides, G.M. Enzyme-catalyzed organic synthesis: NAD(P)H cofactor regeneration by using glucose 6-phosphate and the glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase from *Leuconostoc mesenteroides*. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **103** (1981) 4890–4899.
- 71. Hoskin, F.C.G.; Walker, J.E.; Stote, R. Degradation of nerve gases by CLECs and cells: kinetics of heterogenous systems. *Chem. Biol. Interact.* **119-120** (1999) 439–444.
- 72. Xu, K.; Klibanov, A.M. pH control of the catalytic activity of cross-linked enzyme crystals in organic solvents. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **118** (1996) 9815–9819.
- 73. Montañes-Clemente, I.; Alvira, E.; Macias, M., Ferrer, A.; Fonceca, M.; Rodriguez, J.; Gonzalez, A.; Barletta, G. Enzyme activation in organic solvents: co-lyophilization of subtilisin Carlsberg with methyl-β-cyclodextrin renders an enzyme catalyst more active than the cross-linked enzyme crystals. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **78** (2002) 53–59.
- 74. Margolin, A.L.; Klibanov, A.M. Peptide synthesis catalysed by lipases in anhydrous organic solvents. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **109** (1987) 3802–3804.
- 75. Barbas, C.F.; Matos, J.R.; West, J.B.; Wong, C.-H. A search for peptide ligase: cosolvent-mediated conversion of proteases to esterases for irreversible synthesis of peptides. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **110** (1988) 5162–5166.
- Chen, S.-T.; Chen, S.-Y.; Wang, K.-T. Kinetically controlled peptide bond formation in anhydrous alcohol catalysed by the industrial protease alcalase. J. Org. Chem. 57 (1992) 6960–6965.
- Khalaf, N.; Govardhan, C.P.; Lalonde, J.J.; Persichetti, R.A.; Wang, Y.-F.; Margolin, A.L. Cross-linked enzyme crystals as highly active catalysts in organic solvents. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **118** (1996) 5494–5495.
- 78. Bovara, R.; Carrea, G.; Ottolina, G.; Riva, S. Effects of water activity on  $V_{max}$  and  $K_M$  of lipase catalyzed transesterification in organic media. *Biotechnol. Lett.* **15** (1993) 937–942.
- 79. Ottolina, G.; Carrea, G.; Riva, S.; Sartore, L.; Veronese, F.M. Effect of the enzyme form on the activity, stability and enantioselectivity of lipoprotein lipase in toluene. *Biotechnol. Lett.* **14** (1992) 947–952.

- Eklund, H.; Samama, J.-P.; Alwyn, T.A. Crystallographic investigations of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide binding to horse liver alcohol dehydrogenase. *Biochemistry* 23 (1984) 5982-5996.
- 81. Jumppanen, J.; Nurmi, J.; Pastinen, O. Process for the continuous production of high purity L-ribose. *US Patent 6140498*, 2000.
- 82. Shimonishi, T.; Izumori, K. A new enzyme, L-ribose isomerase from *Acinetobacter* sp. strain DL-28. *J. Ferment. Bioeng.* **81** (1996) 493–497.
- 83. Izumori, K.; Tsusaki, K. L-ribose isomerase, its preparation and uses. US Patent 6037153, 2000.
- 84. Bauer, M.; Geyer, R.; Boy, M.; Griengel, H.; Steiner, W. Stability of the enzyme (S)-hydroxynitrile lyase from *Hevea brasiliensis*. J. Mol. Catal. B: Enzym. 5 (1998) 343–347.
- 85. Bauer, M.; Griengel, H.; Steiner, W. Parameters influencing stability and activity of a S-hydroxynitrile lyase from *Hevea brasiliensis* in two-phase systems. *Enzyme. Microb. Technol.* **24** (1999) 514–522.
- 86. DeSimone, J.M., Carbonell, R.G.; Crette, S.A.; Kendall, J.L. Enzyme catalysis in carbon dioxide fluids. *US Patent 6211422*, 2001.
- 87. Haginaka, J. Protein-based chiral statinary phases for high-performance liquid chromatography enantioseparations. *J. Chromatogr. A* **906** (2001) 253–273.
- 88. Pastinen, O., Visuri, K., Leisola, M. Xylitol purification by cross-linked glucose isomerase crystals, *Biotechnol. Tech.* **12** (1998) 557–560.
- 89. Dotan, N.; Arad, D.; Frolow, F.; Freeman, A. Self-assembly of a tetrahedral lectin into predesigned diamondlike protein crystals. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **38** (1999) 2363–2366.
- 90. Häring, D.; Schreier, P. Novel Biocatalysts by chemical modification of known enzymes: cross-linked microcrystals of the semisynthetic peroxidase seleno-subtilisin. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **37** (1998) 2471–2473.
- 91. Wu, Z.P.; Hilvert, D. Conversion of a protease into an acyl transferase: selenosubtilisin. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **111** (1989) 4513–4514.
- 92. St. Clair, N.; Shenoy, B.; Jacob, L.D.; Margolin, A.L. Cross-linked protein crystals for vaccine delivery. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **96** (1999) 9469–9474.
- 93. Margolin, A.; Shenoy, B. Lipase containing composition and methods of use thereof. *International patent application WO 01/62280 A2*, 2001.
- 94. de Mattos, I.L.; Lukachova, L.V; Gorton, L.; Laurell, T.; Karyakin, A.A. Evaluation of glucose biosensors based on Prussian Blue and lyophilized, crystalline and cross-linked glucose oxidases (CLEC<sup>®</sup>). *Talanta* 54 (2001) 963– 974.
- 95. Nevanen, T., Söderholm, L., Kukkonen, K., Suortti, T., Teerinen, T., Söderlund, H., Teeri, T.T. Efficient enantioselective separation of drug enantiomers by immobilized antibody fragments. *J. Chromatogr.* **A 925** (2001) 89–97.
- 96. Watt, C.I.F. Hydride and alkyl group shifts in the reactions of aldehydes and ketones. In: *Comprehensive Biological Catalysis* (Sinnott, M., ed.). Academic Press Ltd., USA, 1998, 252–272.

- 97. Pastinen, O., Schoemaker, H.E., Leisola, M. Xylose isomerase catalysed novel hexose epimerization, *Biocatal. Biotransform.* **17** (1999) 393–400.
- Pastinen, O., Visuri, K., Schoemaker, H. E., Leisola, M. Novel reactions of xylose isomerase from *Streptomyces rubiginosus, Enzyme Microb. Technol.* 25 (1999) 965–700.
- 99. Visuri, K. Method for producing crystalline glucose isomerase. US Patent 5120650, 1992.
- 100. Harris, L.J.; Skaletsky, E.; McPherson, A. Crystallization of intact monoclonal antibodies. *Proteins: Struct., Funct., Genet.* 23 (1995) 285–289.
- 101. Lee, T.S.; Vaghjiani, J.D.; Lye, G.J.; Turner, M.K. A systematic approach to the large-scale production of protein crystals. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.* **26** (2000) 582–592.
- 102. Melander, W.; Horvath, C. Salt effects on hydrophobic interactions in precipitation and chromatography of proteins: an interpretation of the lyotropic series. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **183** (1977) 200–215.
- 103. Ries-Kautt, M.M.; Ducruix, A.F. Relative effectiveness of various ions on the solubility and crystal growth of lysozyme. *J. Biol. Chem.* **264** (1989) 745–748.
- 104. Shih, Y.-C.; Prausnitz, J.M.; Blanch, H.W. Some characteristics of protein precipitation by salts. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **40** (1992) 1155–1164.
- 105. Bénas, P.; Legrand, L.; Riés-Kautt, M. Strong and specific effects of cations on lysozyme chloride solubility. *Acta. Cryst.* **D58** (2002) 1582–1587.
- 106. Goldberg, R.N.; Tewari, Y.B. Thermodynamic and transport properties of carbohydrates and their monophosphates: pentoses and hexoses. *J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data* **18** (1989) 809–879.
- 107. Tewari, Y.B.; Goldberg, R.N. Thermodynamics of the conversion of aqueous glucose to fructose. *Appl. Biochem. Biotech.* **11** (1985) 17–24.
- 108. Pedersen S. Industrial aspects of immobilized glucose isomerase. *Bioprocess Technol., Ind. Appl. Immobilized Biocatal.* **16** (1993) 185–208.
- 109. Tewari, Y.B. Thermodynamics of important enzyme catalyzed reactions. *Appl. Biochem. Biotech.* **23** (1990) 187–200.
- 110. Visuri, K.; Klibanov, A.M. Enzymatic production of high fructose corn syrup (HFCS) containing 55% fructose in aqueous ethanol. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **30** (1987) 917–920.
- 111. Nilsson, K.G.I.; Mosbach, K.; Sakaguchi, K. Increased yield of fructose from glucose employing thermophilic xylose isomerase in water-ethanol mixtures. *Biotechnol. Lett.* **13** (1991) 787–792.
- Young, J.M.; Schray, K.J.; Mildvan, A.S. Proton magnetic relaxation studies of the interaction of D-xylose and xylitol with D-xylose isomerase. J. Biol. Chem. 350 (1975) 9021–9027.
- 113. Lee, H.S.; Hong, J. Kinetics of glucose isomerization to fructose by immobilized glucose isomerase: anomeric reactivity of D-glucose in kinetic model. J. *Biotechnol.* 84 (2000) 145–153.